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THE HEARING COMMENCED (IN PUBLIC) AS FOLLOWS ON 

TUESDAY, 21ST JANUARY, 2025 AT 10:17AM:

CHAIRPERSON:  Good morning.  This is an Inquiry 

convened under Part 6 of the Health and Social Care 

Professionals Act 2005 in respect of the Thangapandian 

Subramanian registered Physiotherapist registration 

number PT033352. 

This Inquiry will be conducted in public.  The 

recording or live-streaming of this Inquiry is strictly 

prohibited.  No one is permitted to make any video or 

audio or other recording or image whatsoever of any 

part of the Inquiry.  This prohibition includes a 

photograph, screenshot or screen grab and all like or 

related mechanisms.

I'm Shane McCarthy and I'm a layperson.  I'm not a 

registrant of CORU and I'm the Chairperson of this 

Committee.  As Chairperson I'm responsible for the 

conduct of this Hearing.  I will begin by introducing 

the other members of this Committee of Inquiry.  Mr 

Brian Melaugh is sitting on my far left.  He is a 

registered professional Social Worker member.  Ms 

Aileen Sheehan is sitting on my immediate right.  She 

is a registered professional Physiotherapist member.  

Mr Frank Beatty, Senior Counsel, is sitting to my 

immediate left.  He is the Legal Assessor to the 

Committee.
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The Legal Assessor is not a member of the Committee and 

the Legal Assessor's role is to assist and advise the 

Committee in relation to legal issues that may arise 

during the course of the Hearing.  The Legal Assessor 

will provide his legal advice to the Committee of 

Inquiry in the presence of everyone here today.  I will 

ask the parties to make submissions in relation to the 

Legal Assessor's advice. 

I intend to conduct this Inquiry in accordance with 

natural and constitutional justice and in accordance 

with fair procedures.  

During the Inquiry, I request the parties or their 

legal representatives of the parties when making any 

submissions to the Professional Conduct Committee to 

address them to me as Chairperson.

The Committee may retire to make its decisions in 

camera and will consider the submissions made and any 

legal advice from the Legal Assessor.  

As this Inquiry is being held in public, I will now 

take appearances from all of the parties.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Eoghan O'Sullivan, Chair, on behalf of 

the Registrar, instructed by Ms. Gahan.

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.  And the Registrant?  Can you 

hear me, Mr. Subramanian?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, I can hear your voice. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much.  And if you would 

just introduce yourself to the members of the 

Committee, please.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  My name is Thangapandian 

Subramanian.  I'm the physiotherapist.  At present, I 

am in India, and I'm learning CPD programmes and 

engaging HCPC in the process and applying supervisory 

post in Ireland.  So, currently, I'm in India.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  And if you have any difficulties 

in hearing us or in engaging with the Committee in any 

way, just please bring it to my attention.  If you need 

anything repeated or if, for example, you need 

assistance in navigating any documents that are put 

before the Committee, please ask for any assistance you 

require and we will try our best to facilitate you.  

Okay? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Sure, sure.

CHAIRPERSON:  As you are not in the room, I am going to 

ask our Legal Assessor, Mr. Frank Beatty, Senior 

Counsel, to introduce himself to you and to set out his 

role so that you will be able to understand the same as 

well. 

MR. BEATTY:  Mr. Subramanian, sorry, how do you 

pronounce your name?  Subramanian, is it?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, Subramanian.  You can say 

Subramanian, no problem.

MR. BEATTY:  Subramanian.  My name is Frank Beatty.  I 

am the Legal Assessor, so I am not a member of the 

Committee.  Can you hear me?
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MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, yes.  

MR. BEATTY:  Yes, so I am not a member of the Committee 

and I do not make any decisions today.  My role today 

is to advise the Committee in relation to issues of 

law.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.

MR. BEATTY:  And in relation to issues of procedure.  

So I don't advise the Registrar and I don't advise you 

but I do advise the Committee and any advice that I 

give them, I will give them in front of you and in 

front of the Registrar's legal team.  And you will be 

given an opportunity to agree or disagree with it or 

look for whatever clarification you wish.  Does that 

make sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  I'm just conscious because you are not 

legally represented, and you're not in attendance today 

except remotely.  So I'm happy to give you as much 

guidance as you want.  Now, it's not legal advice 

because that's not my role, but if there's anything 

about the procedure that you don't understand, or if 

there's anything you want explained to you, I am happy 

to give you as much guidance as you need.  Does that 

help?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  All right, thank you.

CHAIRPERSON:  Does either the Registrar or the 

Registrant have any preliminary applications that they 

wish to make to the Committee?
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MR. O'SULLIVAN:  I do, Chair, and I hope Mr. 

Subramanian can hear me as well.

CHAIRPERSON:  Yeah, Mr. Subramanian, can you hear Mr. 

O'Sullivan for the Register?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, I can hear your voice but very 

slow.  But I am able to hear your voice there.  

CHAIRPERSON:  We'll ask Mr. O'Sullivan to raise his 

voice for you and we'll...

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  And I'll speak slowly as well.

CHAIRPERSON:  Better again.

APPLICATION BY MR. O'SULLIVAN

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  So, Chair, I have one preliminary 

application.  It's not on notice to Mr. Subramanian 

because it's something that was only noticed this 

morning. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  And obviously I want to be up front 

about that and Mr. Beatty may want to assist Mr.  

Subramanian in relation to that.  But I'll just tell 

you what it is because it's a correction of a typo in 

the Notice of Inquiry. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Could I point out to you that the Notice 

of Inquiry has not yet been seen by the Committee?  So 

do you want to introduce the core book?  Has the core 

book been agreed?

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Well, it has been circulated --

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.
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MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  Yes.  It's been circulated 

and I didn't understand Mr. Subramanian had any 

difficulty with it.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, so the core book has been accepted 

and we'll assign it Exhibit Number 1.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  And do you want to open the Notice of 

Inquiry to allow us to see whatever typo that you're 

looking to amend? 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Very good, Chair.  Again, I might just 

make sure that Mr. Subramanian has the core book 

available to him, so when I'm referring the Committee 

to material, he has it.

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Subramanian, you do have the core 

book in front of you.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. O'Sullivan is going to refer to 

different page numbers in the core book, and as those 

pages are referenced you might open them so that at 

least you'll be able to be aware of the arguments and 

applications that Mr. O'Sullivan is making.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Chair.  And for the 

avoidance of any doubt, again for Mr. Subramanian's 

benefit, it is the document that was sent to him 

described as "Updated Core Book", dated the 13th of 

January 2025.  And obviously Mr. Subramanian can let me 

know if there's any difficulty in following.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.
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MR. O'SULLIVAN:  So, Chair -- thank you.  You have the 

Notice itself beginning at page three of the PDF? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  And very helpfully, I see that the 

material is up on the screen as well.  So Mr. 

Subramanian can see that.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes I can see, I can see.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Great.  There are two factual 

allegations over the page, Chair, at the top of page 4.  

And the first is:  

"Mr. Subramanian failed to notify the Board, whether as 

soon as was reasonably practicable or at all, that on 

or about 16th February 2023, you were made the subject 

of an interim suspension order by the HCPC."  

Which as you know is the equivalent Regulator in the 

UK.  And the second allegation is that he failed to 

notify the Board, again:  

"As soon as it was reasonably practicable or at all, 

that on or about the 16th of August 2023, you was made 

the subject of a further interim suspension order by 

the HCPC." 

So they are the factual allegations, Chair.  You'll see 

the Notice then goes on to allege that those 

allegations amount to a contravention of various 

sections of the Code.  And it is here that the typo 
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appears because you will see the first section of the 

Code that is referred to begins with the number 1.  And 

then in bold it says:  

"Comply with obligations regarding registration."

And it says:

"You must inform the Board within 7 days".  

In effect if you're suspended by your employer or 

another body.  And the typo arises in the use of the 

number 1, not in relation to the substance of what is 

set out.  And I'll just show you what the Code 

provides. 

So if you turn to page 512, you have there the Code.  

And you'll see if we move forward to page 521, Section 

1 of the Code, and as you remember, the reference is to 

number 1 in the Notice.  And you'll see that 1 relates 

to:

"Acts in the best interest of service users."

And 1(b) says:  

"You should respect the diversity, different cultures, 

and values of service users." 
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And that's clearly not the provision that is referred 

to.  The provision that is referred to, if we move 

forward to page 524, the bottom of 524 into the top of 

525.  So you'll see at the bottom of, yes, thank you,

Section 5 is the section that reads:  

"Comply with obligations regarding registration."

And at the top of the next page, (b), you'll see it 

provides:  

"You must inform the Board within seven days if your 

employer or another body has suspended you or placed 

restrictions on your practice because of concerns 

affecting your conduct or competence."

So the allegation that is made is that Mr. Subramanian 

has contravened that Section 5(b) of the Code a 

typographical error in the Notice to the extent that it 

refers to Section 1(b) rather than 5(b).  And my 

application, Chair, is to simply amend the number 1 to 

read 5, so that the Notice accurately reflects the 

Section of the code that is relied upon.  And as I say, 

I apologise that this wasn't communicated to Mr. 

Subramanian in advance, but it was only spotted this 

morning.  

And what I would say to you, and you'll be well aware, 

that when it comes to considering whether to accede to 
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an application to amend a Notice, you have to consider 

whether there's a prejudice to the Registrant.  And if 

there is a prejudice to the Registrant, then you 

shouldn't accede to the application.  But if there's no 

prejudice to the Registrant, then in my submission, you 

should accede to the application because obviously the 

purpose of Inquiries such as this is to deal with the 

matters that arise.

And I suggest to you that there's no conceivable 

prejudice to Mr. Subramanian here because the error is 

an error in relation to a number as distinct from the 

substance of what is alleged.  So, the Notice 

accurately reflects the heading of the Section that is 

relied upon, "Comply with obligations regarding 

registration".  And it actually accurately reflects the 

substance of the Section, in that it refers to the fact 

that it is alleged that he's breached the Section.  It 

says, "you must inform the Board within seven days", 

etcetera.  

So, if there was a reference in the Notice there to 

what 1(b) says, and if I was now seeking to change the 

substance of what was alleged, Mr. Subramanian may well 

have a good argument to say, "well, I didn't come here 

ready to deal with that issue."  But in my submission, 

that's not the case here because it's only the number 

that is wrong.  And so in my submission, Chair, there's 

no prejudice to Mr. Subramanian.
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Obviously, Mr. Beatty may want to assist Mr. 

Subramanian in relation to all of this.  But that's my 

application Chair.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  Mr. Subramanian, you've heard the 

application and the basis for it.  Do you wish to reply 

at this stage or would you prefer at this point Mr. 

Beatty to provide advice to you and assistance in terms 

of the nature of the application to amend the Notice?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  I have already explained that. 

I have already given an apology.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  Mr. Subramanian, the application 

today as you heard is to amend the Notice of Inquiry 

and that is at page 3 of the booklet that you have and 

specifically it is in relation to the Code of Conduct, 

is it simply to change the number 1, see that where it 

says, "comply with obligations regarding registration".  

It's simply to change that to 5 to reflect that in fact 

what has been alleged against you is a breach of 

paragraph 5(b) and not 1(b).  Do you understand that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, yeah, yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  And it's not immediately apparent to me 

that there's any prejudice to you in that respect, but 

obviously if you have prepared differently than you 

would otherwise have prepared today because of that 

typographical error, then you should let the Committee 

know that now, or if you need more time to consider it 

because of that amendment, or if you wish to simply 
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oppose the amendment which you are entitled to do, then 

now is the time to do that.  Does that make sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, yes.

MR. BEATTY:  So, do you want to outline, and you may 

wish time, but do you want to outline to the Committee 

what your view of it is, that change that's been 

proposed?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, sir.  I already explained.  So 

this is, how to say, apology already given, so I'm 

already clearly.

MR. BEATTY:  So you're already which?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Sorry, I didn't get that.  You're already 

what? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I already gave my [inaudible]

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Subramanian, if you might just pause 

there one moment the sound has become quite difficult 

to hear you.  Would you please be so kind as to repeat 

what you're saying. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Can you hear me?

MR. BEATTY:  Yes I think maybe the speaker is just -- 

your microphone is maybe just a little close to your 

lips.  So I wonder if you might just --

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay, okay.

MR. BEATTY:  Yeah, that's much better. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Is it okay now.

MR. BEATTY:  That's much much better and I think that 

you were about to outline to the Committee what your 

approach to all of the allegations is and you will get 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

Gwen Malone Stenography Services Ltd.

 

 

16

an opportunity to do that but before we even get there 

just in relation to the proposed amendment.  Do you 

have any difficulty with that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  No difficulties.

MR. BEATTY:  No difficulties.  Well, then I advise the 

Committee that I don't see any prejudice that arises 

and the Committee, obviously it's a matter for the 

Committee, they can make the amendment if they wish. 

CHAIRPERSON:  So the Committee consent to the 

application for the amendment and with consent of all 

the parties. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Line breaking.  Is the line breaking?  

Hello?

MR. BEATTY:  No, that's much clearer.  For us it's much 

clearer.  Is it breaking for you?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, now okay.  Now okay.

MR. BEATTY:  Okay.  Mr. O'Sullivan, is CORU, I'm just 

trying to see this, is it a delegated body under the 

2020 Act? 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Yes. 

MR. BEATTY:  It is.  I might advise him of his 

position. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.

MR. BEATTY:  And then there is just one other matter 

that I want to go through with you, Mr. Subramanian and 

that is this, this Committee is entitled to hear this 

Inquiry remotely, but equally you are entitled to 

object to that if you wish and to seek to have it in 
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person.  That is an entitlement that you have.  Now, I 

am only mentioning that to you because I do not want 

you to think about it afterwards and to say that you 

would have preferred to have been here in person.  I 

simply want you to know that that is something that you 

can request of the Committee, that the matter be heard 

fully in person.  You would have to identify particular 

reasons why you want that, but I want to just make sure 

that you are happy to proceed with this Hearing 

remotely.  When I say remotely, everybody else is in 

the room, as I understand it.  Everybody is going to be 

in this room making submissions and giving evidence but 

you won't be.  Are you happy enough with that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, yes, yes, I'm very happy.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, well in that case we'll proceed.

Mr. O'Sullivan, are you in a position to commence?

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Yes, thank you very much, Chair. 

SUBMISSION BY MR. O'SULLIVAN

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  So, I've already referred you to the 

two factual allegations in the Notice and I've referred 

you to the fact that it is alleged that the failures on 

the part of Mr. Subramanian amount to a contravention 

of Section 5(b) of the Code.  You'll also see at PDF 

page 4, it is alleged that he has contravened Sections 

7(a) and (b).  And they are set out there, I'm not 

going to delay now by reading those out, I'll come back 

to them when I'm closing.  You'll see it is alleged 
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that he has contravened Section 20(e) and that is set 

out.  And it is alleged that he has contravened Section 

22.1(b) and (c).  Again, they are there for you and 

I'll come back to those at a later stage. 

As you know, a contravention of the Code amounts to 

professional misconduct under the 2005 Act.  So the 

allegations are that in contravening those Sections of 

the Code, Mr. Subramanian has been guilty of 

professional misconduct.

It's further alleged that he has been guilty of a 

contravention of certain provisions of the Act, and as 

you know that's a separate ground of complaint under 

the legislation and you'll see it is alleged that he 

has contravened Section 45.1(d) of the Act, Section 

45.1(e) of the Act and Section 45.1(f) of the Act and 

later in my opening submission I'll take you to those 

Sections. 

Mr. Subramanian was registered in this jurisdiction as 

a physiotherapist in March of 2019.  He also enjoyed 

parallel registration with the HCPC, which as I've 

mentioned and as you well know, is CORU's statutory 

equivalent in the United Kingdom.  As again you're no 

doubt aware when a person applies for registration here 

they are asked a series of questions directed towards 

eliciting information that might be relevant to the 

person's application to be registered.
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And they include questions in relation to whether you 

have registration with any other bodies, including 

bodies outside the jurisdiction, and whether you've had 

any difficulties, to put it like that, in terms of your 

registration elsewhere.  

And by way of example, if you turn to page 78, you'll 

see a questionnaire that is completed by a person as 

part of the registration process.  And just to show you 

some of the types of questions that are posed, if we 

turn to page 80, you'll see question 7 says:  

"Are you or have you been registered with another 

regulator in Ireland or elsewhere?  If yes, please give 

details in the additional information field below." 

Then question 8 says:  

"Has any regulator refused to grant you registration or 

place conditions or restrictions on your practise of 

your profession or council struck you off the register?

If yes, please provide details." 

And then the next question, 9, says:  

"Have you been the subject of an adverse finding by a 

regulator or any professional or disciplinary body in 

Ireland or elsewhere?  If yes, please provide details."
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And the reason you'll appreciate why those types of 

questions are asked is that that information may well 

be relevant to a person's application for registration.  

CORU is seeking to put on notice of potentially 

relevant information so that where appropriate, they 

can make further inquiries to determine whether or not 

the person should be registered.

Once you get on the Register, you have an ongoing 

obligation, both ethically under the Code and as a 

matter of statute, to notify CORU if certain issues 

arise affecting your registration or which may affect 

your registration and they include issues with other 

regulatory bodies in Ireland or elsewhere which may 

affect your entitlement to be registered on an ongoing 

basis.  And again, those obligations are there for the 

very obvious reason that if you are registered with 

another body and an issue arises and steps are taken in 

relation to your registration because of concerns, 

there's an onus on you to notify CORU, so that CORU can 

investigate the issues that have led to the difficulty 

elsewhere to decide whether they need to take action to 

protect the public in this jurisdiction.  And they may, 

in certain circumstances, they may not in others.  But 

there's an obligation, for very good reason, on the 

registrant to notify CORU so they can make those 

inquiries and decide on the appropriate course of 

action, if any. 
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In addition to that, as you'll know, there's an 

obligation on registrants to renew their registration 

on an annual basis.  And when you apply to renew your 

registration, you're again asked a number of questions, 

once again designed to elicit potentially relevant 

information in terms of your application for renewal.  

And if you turn again by way of example, to page 86, 

you'll see the template here of the questions that are 

posed when a person submits their application for 

renewal of their registration.  And you'll see under 

Declaration, they're required to confirm that their 

details are correct and up-to-date, they've read, 

understood and will comply with the Code.  They know of 

no reason why the Registration Board should not grant 

them renewal and I've provided the necessary written 

declaration to the Board. 

You'll also see under Part 2 statements, the first 

says, "I am not", in bold, "the subject of proceedings 

of any sort either in the Republic of Ireland or in any 

other jurisdiction, which could lead to conditions 

being imposed on my registration or licence, or my 

registration or licence being suspended, withdrawn or 

removed." 

And over the page, you'll see there's a declaration, a 

confirmation section as part of that process as well.

So that's just another mechanism by which CORU seeks 
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information from registrants to enable it to monitor 

their fitness to practise, in effect, on an ongoing 

basis, or at least to be put on notice of information 

that may cause CORU to make further inquiries in 

relation to the person's fitness to practise. 

In the autumn of 2023, CORU received from the HCPC a 

document that's described as an alert list and it's a 

document that was provided to CORU by the HCPC in which 

the HCPC identified people on their register who had 

action taken against them affecting their registration.  

And Mr. Subramanian's name was on that alert list that 

came from the HCPC.  The document suggested that an 

interim suspension had been imposed on Mr. Subramanian 

by the HCPC.  And if I could ask you to turn to page 

56, you'll see a letter dated the 13th of October 2023 

from CORU to the HCPC, in which in the third paragraph 

the author says:  

"We recently received your alert list dated the 8th of 

August, 2023, for which we are grateful.  We note 

there's an entry on your alert list for Thangapandian 

Subramanian."  And his registration number in the UK is 

referred to, "who is a HCPC registered physiotherapist 

and is currently the subject of an interim suspension 

order.  It has also come to our attention that a person 

with the same name is currently registered with CORU as 

a physiotherapist".  And his registration details here 

are referred to.  And the author asks that the HCPC 
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would provide CORU with the date of birth of their 

Registrant named Thangapandian Subramanian, "so that we 

can establish if he is also registered with CORU." 

Over the page, page 58, you'll see a response from the 

HCPC on the 16th of October by email, and they say:

"We will deal with your request as promptly as possible 

and at the latest within 20 working days of receiving 

it."

And just to complete the picture in relation to this, 

you'll see page 59 on the 9th of November.  The HCPC 

provided its response and the substance of the response 

is at page 60.  And they declined to provide the 

information in effect on the basis that it's personal 

data.  But in the meantime, CORU had actually engaged 

with Mr. Subramanian, as we'll see in a moment, in 

relation to the issue.  In effect, when the HCPC had 

come back to say, "we'll revert within 20 working 

days", the decision was taken to make direct contact 

with Mr. Subramanian to seek to establish whether he 

was one and the same person.  

So if we turn to page 42 please.  You'll see on the 

26th of October CORU wrote to the Mr. Subramanian 

registered in this jurisdiction and he was asked to 

confirm whether he was registered with the HCPC in the 

UK.  As the letter goes on:  
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"If you do hold registration with the HCPC, please 

confirm your HCPC registration number, current status 

of your registration, whether there are any 

restrictions or conditions imposed by the HCPC on your 

practice, including dates of any such restrictions or 

conditions, whether you are the subject of any fitness 

to practise proceedings by the HCPC/TS, including dates 

of Hearings." 

And they go on to say:  

"Please be advised, we may seek to verify any 

information which you provide to us with the UK 

Regulator." 

Mr. Subramanian replies over the page on the 6th of 

November at page 43.  And he says:  

"I hope you're having a good morning.  I wanted to 

inform you that I've requested HCPC to cancel my 

registration due to some issues.  If you require 

additional information on this matter, please feel free 

to reach out to me.  However, I want to clarify that I 

still maintain my current registration with the IAP, 

Indian Association of Physiotherapy.  If you need any 

more details, please do not hesitate to contact me 

sincerely." 

So obviously that didn't address the specific queries 
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that have been raised and so the case officer replies 

over the page at page 44.  On the 10th of November he 

says:  

"Thank you for your email of the 6th of November, 2023, 

confirming that you are registered with HCPC.  I would 

be grateful if you would provide me with your HCPC 

registration number by return."

And in response to that email at page 45, you'll see on 

the 13th of November, 2023, Mr. Subramanian says:

"Good morning and thank you for your prompt response.  

In accordance with your request, I'm hereby forwarding 

the HCPC registration details along with the current 

status.  I would like to update you that I submitted a 

request to HCPC on 13th September 2023 for 

cancellation.  However, an interim order was imposed on 

16th February 2023, with the interim suspension last 

reviewed on 16th August 2023.  Unfortunately, I was 

unable to attend the interim review meeting held on 

August 16th.  I provided my evidence and report to HCPC 

and I'm currently awaiting their response." 

He then gives his HCPC registration number and he says:

"Should you require any further assistance or 

information please feel free to contact me." 
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So that email on the 13th of November 2023 is the first 

time that Mr. Subramanian makes CORU aware of the fact 

that his registration in the UK was suspended on an 

interim basis in February 2023 and that this issue was 

reviewed by the HCPC in August of 2023 and the 

suspension was continued. 

To his credit, Mr. Subramanian was asked to consent to 

CORU taking up all relevant documentation from the HCPC 

and you'll see that request is made of him at page 46.  

And at page 47 he replies, attaching a signed consent, 

and the signed consent itself is at page 48.  So he 

consents to CORU engaging with HCPC and gathering up 

all of the relevant documentation, and that's obviously 

very much to his credit.

The HCPC duly provided all of the material underpinning 

the process in that jurisdiction to CORU and it appears 

in a couple of locations in the core book but if I 

could refer you to page 204 initially, please.  You'll 

see there a decision of the Investigating Committee of 

the Health and Care Professions Tribunal Service.  

You'll see under representation the HCPC was 

represented, it's a meeting of the 16th of February 

2023 and you'll see that Mr. Subramanian did not attend 

and was not represented.  That's recorded on the first 

page. 

Over the page then, you'll see there's a preliminary 
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issue as to whether he has been served and whether it's 

appropriate to proceed in his absence.  And the Interim 

Orders Panel decided that it was appropriate to proceed 

in his absence, that he had been properly served.  

In terms of the underlying issues of concern, they're 

obviously not issues that you need to resolve as part 

of this Inquiry, but just so you know, in broad terms, 

what the issues that led to the interim suspension 

were, you'll see at page 206, beginning at paragraph 7 

of the decision, there is a summary of the complaint 

that was made about Mr. Subramanian by a superior in 

the place where he had worked.  You'll see on the 4th 

of August, '22, it's recorded:  

"He commenced employment with Kent Community Health NHS 

Foundation Trust as a Band 6 physiotherapist.  On the 

12th of August, '22, serious concerns were noted 

following the Registrant's first week in post at the 

Trust as a Band 6 physiotherapist. 

It appeared that the Registrant was reluctant to take 

the lead in making decisions.  It was not clear to his 

employers if this was a confidence or a competence 

issue." 

And they go on to refer to the fact that an action plan 

was put in place on the 14th of October, '22, the 

purpose of which was to monitor and address the 
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concerns identified, including his communication and 

behavioral difficulties.  

And you'll see then the concerns are set out.  These 

are only allegations, as you know, but the concerns are 

set out and they include:  

"Not keeping up to date with mandatory training, 

repeated weight bearing with a trauma patient who was 

not able to weight bear, poor general conduct, poor 

clinical knowledge, poor communication with service 

users and colleagues, documentation errors, and cutting 

and pasting elements of the apprentice occupational 

therapist electronic progress notes." 

You'll see they go on to describe further action that 

is alleged to have been taken within the workplace to 

address these issues and ultimately a complaint being 

made to the HCPC.  

And Mr. Subramanian has made it very clear in his 

response to the HCPC that he disputes this complaint.  

He says that he had an interpersonal difficulty with 

his superior and he thinks that the complaint is at 

least in part racially motivated and they are all 

issues that are going to have to be dealt with by the 

HCPC.  They're not issues you have to deal with.  But 

that was the nature of the complaint that was made and 

they were the issues being considered on an interim 
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basis by this Tribunal. 

And if you move to the end of that document at page 

214, you'll see at paragraph 42. 

"After referring to the concerns that arose based upon 

the allegations, the only appropriate and proportionate 

order is that of interim suspension." 

And they set out the considerations that informed that 

decision.  And you'll see the orders that the Registrar 

is directed to suspend the name of Mr. Subramanian from 

the Register on an interim basis for a period of 18 

months and that the order will be reviewed by the 

Committee no later than 16 August 2023. 

If I could ask you please to jump to page 486 for a 

moment.  If you have that, you'll see an email of the 

22nd of February 2023 from Hearings@hcptsuk.org to Mr. 

Subramanian's email address.  I can show you if 

necessary later him using this email.  You'll see on 

the 22nd of February, 2023, an email was sent to him 

notifying him of the outcome of the Interim Order 

Application Hearing on the 16th of February, i.e. that 

an interim suspension had been imposed. 

At page 416 then, you'll see the second decision of the 

HCPC.  This time it's dated the 16th of August, 2023.

Again, you'll see Mr. Subramanian was not present. 
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That's set out at the bottom of the page under 

"Representation".  And as with the first Hearing, the 

decision begins by dealing with service and whether 

it's appropriate to proceed in his absence.  And once 

again, the Panel decided that it was appropriate to 

proceed in his absence and you'll see at the bottom of 

page 424 that the Panel decided that it was appropriate 

to confirm the Interim Order and that it was to remain 

in place and they said they would review it no later 

than the 16th of November 2023.

And at page 499, you'll see the screenshot of an email 

sent to Mr. Subramanian again by Hearings@hcptsuk.org 

on the 16th of August notifying him of the outcome of 

that particular Hearing.  

At page 511, you'll see Mr. Subramanian replies from 

that email address to which both of those notifications 

were sent on the 13th of September 2023.  And I'd 

suggest to you that this email dispels any conceivable 

doubt that there could be as to whether he actually had 

been aware of the Interim Orders because he says:  

"I want to express my gratitude for your recent 

communication regarding the Hearing held on August..."

MS. SHEEHAN:  Sorry which page?

CHAIRPERSON:  511. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Oh sorry, 511.  So it's the 13th of 

September, 23, and he says:  
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"I want to express my gratitude for your recent 

communication regarding the Hearing held on August 16th 

virtually.  I deeply regret not acknowledging your 

email and for my absence at the meeting.  

Unfortunately, my inability to participate was entirely 

due to a pressing family matter that required my 

immediate attention.  In light of the interim 

suspension from the HCPC register, effective February 

16th 2023, I found myself in a situation where I lost 

my job and subsequently relocated to India.  At 

present, I have no intention of pursuing a career in 

physiotherapy within the UK, therefore I am making a 

voluntary request to have my name removed from the HCPC 

registration as I do not intend to practise in the UK."

And he says that it wasn't an easy decision for him, it 

was driven by a family situation and that he doesn't 

intend to impose any burdens on that particular team.  

But that email, I suggest, shows very clearly that Mr. 

Subramanian was aware of the interim suspension because 

he says that it led to him losing his job and 

subsequently relocating to India.  And clearly here by 

the 13th of September, at the absolute latest, he is 

aware of the August 2023 review and the decision that 

was taken there. 

A complaint was made to the PPC by the CEO of CORU and 

you'll find the complaint form at page 11.  I'm not 

going to take you through it in any detail now but 
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you'll see the substance of what is alleged at page 15.

And in broad terms, the complaint refers to the 

underlying issues of concern in the UK, which you're 

not concerned with today, and also Mr. Subramanian's 

failure to notify CORU of the situation in the UK, 

which obviously is what you are concerned with.

Mr. Subramanian has provided a number of responses to 

the complaint.  And at page 94 you'll see his first 

response and you'll see he says:  

"I hope this message finds you in good health."  This 

is dated the 5th of March 2024.  "I recently learned 

about the formation of the PPC by CORU tasked with 

addressing complaints regarding my conduct within the 

fitness to practise complaints process.  While this 

news caught me by surprise, I am grateful for the 

detailed information and procedures you provided for 

the fitness to practise complaints process.  Upon 

thorough examination of the statutory declaration, I 

noticed that I had marked 'no' in response to a 

question concerning fitness to practise trial/ 

restricted practise.  This decision stemmed from a 

misunderstanding during the renewal process where I 

believed the question specifically applied to matters 

within the jurisdiction of Ireland/CORU.  I want to 

emphasise that this action was unintentional and I had 

no intention of withholding information as my 

commitment is to provide all details transparently and 
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sincerely."  

Now you might ask, what is that a reference to?  In 

that there's a reference to a specific declaration.  

And if you turn to page 69, you'll see a memo there 

from CORU's Registration Department.  It was prepared 

by Anne-Marie Bennett, and obviously evidence can be 

called about all of this in due course if necessary.  

But Ms. Bennett very helpfully goes through Mr. 

Subramanian's registration history, the questions he 

was asked when he applied for registration, and the 

types of questions he was asked when seeking a renewal 

of registration.  So it's a very helpful summary of the 

types of issues that arise.  But you will see at page 

73 that after referring to the fact that an annual 

renewal is required each year, she says in paragraph 

10:  

"On the 9th of September 2023, the Registrant renewed 

his registration and provided confirmation to the 

declarations, statements and confirmations."

Obviously, as you know from the chronology, this is an 

application made after the February 23 interim 

suspension and after the confirmation of that 

suspension in August. 

And paragraph 11 she says:  
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"Amongst others, the Registrant confirmed the following 

declarations.  My details are correct and up to date.  

I have read, understand and will comply with the Code.  

I know of no reason why the Registration Board should 

not grant me renewal of my registration." 

Paragraph 12 says:  

"Amongst others, the Registrant ticked boxes to confirm 

the following.  The first, I am not the subject of 

proceedings of any sort, either in the Republic of 

Ireland or in any other jurisdiction, which could lead 

to conditions being imposed on my registration or 

licence, or my registration or licence being suspended, 

withdrawn or removed."

And you'll see at paragraph 14, she refers to certain 

other things, but at paragraph 14 she says:  

"He ticks the box to confirm that, 'based on the above, 

I have no declarations to make to the Registration 

Board and can confirm I'm not the subject of any 

proceedings'." 

So when Mr. Subramanian is referring in his response at 

page 94 to the declaration, it's that specific 

September 2023 renewal application that he is referring 

to. 
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And going back to page 94 then, you'll see he goes on 

to say:  

"It's crucial to clarify that the complaints against me 

in the HCPC in the United Kingdom are baseless, 

racially motivated, and fabricated by a manager due to 

my questioning of being placed in the incorrect team as 

originally agreed.  I worked there for only a few 

months, four months, 20 days, and resigned due to her 

pressure.  Prior to this job, I held a similar position 

in a large team for a year without any issues, 

maintaining a high standard throughout.  I'm actively 

addressing these concerns to seek justice.  I'm 

currently employed.  I uphold a high standard of 

practice and face no allegations in Ireland, to the 

best of my knowledge.  I am fully prepared to cooperate 

with your investigation and offer any necessary 

assistance.  I want to reiterate that the response in 

the Statutory Declaration during the CORU renewal was a 

result of a misunderstanding and marking 'no' was not a 

deliberate act.  To aid in your investigation, I will 

promptly forward the documents submitted to the HCPC 

panel during review meetings.  Additionally, I am 

enclosing a letter from my current employer attesting 

to my good professional standing." 

And he then sets out various documents that he's 

attaching. 

MS. SHEEHAN:  What page are you on now?
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MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Sorry, so that is 94 into the top of 

95.  And the letter that he refers to from his employer 

at the time in Ireland is at page 105.  And you'll see 

the date of the 23rd of January 2024 and the author 

who's the Director of Nursing says:  

"To whom it may concern, the Thangapandian Subramanian 

has been working as a full-time physiotherapist...", in 

that particular business, "since the 17th of July 

2023."

And she goes on to describe the type of centre it is 

and she talks about the type of work he's doing.  But 

you'll note from that that he obtained employment there 

in July of 2023.  It was obviously several months after 

his interim suspension in the UK in February and 

obviously that was a job that was obtained long before 

CORU was made aware of the issues of concern in the UK 

and I suggest to you that that just highlights why it's 

so important that one is proactive in complying with 

their ethical and statutory obligations in notifying 

CORU of these types of issues from other jurisdictions 

so that action can be taken, if necessary, and it may 

not be necessary, but if necessary, to protect the 

public. 

The second response provided by Mr. Subramanian is at 

page 473.  

CHAIRPERSON:  I'm conscious Mr. O'Sullivan of Mr. 
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Subramanian being online and the difficulty with you 

taking him through everything without a break.  Mr. 

Subramanian, at this point would you like a 10 minute 

break or anything like that to make sure that you're in 

a position to both take an accurate note and to keep up 

with Mr. O'Sullivan's submission.  Would you like a 

break at this point or are you happy to keep going for 

the time being?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Keep going, keep going, no I'm happy, 

happy.

CHAIRPERSON:  If you do require a break, please just 

bring it to my attention.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Chair.  So at page 473 

you'll see a further response to the complaint from Mr. 

Subramanian to CORU on the 29th of April 2024.  And he 

deals both with the competence concerns that prompted 

the complaint in the UK, which, as I've said, you don't 

need to get into.  And he also then deals with the 

other limb of the complaint here which concerned the 

non-disclosure, if I can put it like that. 

And on page 474, at paragraph 2, he says, number 2:  

"The Committee also noted the apparent lack of honesty 

by the registrant with the Case Officer in the 

Registrant's email of the 6th of November 2023."  

This is a quote from the complaint.  And you'll see 

under that, he goes on to say:  
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"I apologise to the Committee and the Case Officer for 

my apparent lack of honesty.  I did request that the 

HCPC cancel my registration on the 13/09/2023 as I did 

not want to return to the UK.  At the time of 

requesting to cancel my HCPC registration I did not 

realise that I could not cancel my registration due to 

a complaint being investigated and the interim 

suspension order in place.  I thought I could remove my 

name from the Register and the complaint would be 

closed.  I now realise this is not the situation and 

will commit to engage with the HCPTS process.  I've 

learned a tremendous lesson in this process.  I 

apologise unreservedly to the Committee and the Case 

Officer for not being transparent." 

Then in relation to another quote, at paragraph 3 from 

the complaint regarding insight, you'll see over the 

page at the top, 475.  He says:  

"I'm aware of my obligations as a Registrant to abide 

by the PRB, Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics.  

I've learned a lesson and gained appropriate insight in 

this process and apologise unrefutably to the Committee 

for my lack of honesty." 

And then there's a further reference to the complaint 

at paragraph 4 in relation to his work in the nursing 

home setting.  And he says:  
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"I started to work at TLC Nursing Home Ireland on the 

17th of July, 2023 as a physiotherapist.  I disclosed 

everything in my current employer about HCPC complaint 

and CORU complaint made against me, April 19th 2024."

So it seems, Chair, subject obviously to what Mr. 

Subramanian may wish to say after I've concluded the 

opening and I'm very close to the end, that there is 

not a dispute of fact in relation to the allegations.  

Obviously, if Mr. Subramanian wants to put me on proof.  

He's perfectly entitled to do so, but it seems from his 

responses that he acknowledges that he didn't notify 

CORU of these difficulties in the UK and he refers to a 

misunderstanding in relation to the Statutory 

Declaration and he apologises unreservedly for his 

apparent lack of honesty insofar as the general 

non-disclosure is concerned. 

Just to refer you briefly to the provisions of the Act 

because I said I would do that.  The Act begins at page 

548 and at page 610 you will find Section 45.  At the 

bottom of the page there, you'll see 45.1 says:

"A registrant shall, as soon as practicable, notify the 

Registration Board concerned of;

(a) any errors in the Register of which the Registrant 

is aware and that relate to his or her registration,
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(b) any change in the name or address of the Registrant 

or any change of employer, 

(c) any grant to the Registrant by a body other than 

the Board in or outside the state of a licence, 

certificate or registration relating to the practise of 

a profession."  

And then three relevant ones in terms of the 

allegations.

"(d) any change in the status of such licensed 

certificate or registration including the attachment of 

conditions to it,

(e) any matter including any material matter...", I'll 

come back to what material matter means in a second, 

"likely to affect the Registrant's entitlement to such 

licence, certificate or registration, 

(f) any matter including any material matter likely to 

affect the Registrant's entitlement to being registered 

under this Act."

So they are the statutory obligations that are imposed.  

It must be done as soon as practicable.  And if we go 

back to page 557, we'll see the definition of material 

matter in Section 3.  It's at the bottom of the page 
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and it says:  

"Material matter in relation to a person, howsoever 

described means any of the following taken by any 

regulatory body, whether in or outside the state, in 

relation to the provision of one or more and one kind 

of health or social care by the person.  

1.  The imposition of conditions on the registration or 

licence. 

2.  The suspension, withdrawal, or removal of any 

registration or licence. 

3.  The refusal to grant registration or a licence."

And then over the page, "a conviction", which obviously 

doesn't arise.  But it's very clear, I suggest to you, 

that "material matter" includes the suspension of a 

registration and that is what occurred here both in 

February and in August, triggering on each occasion the 

statutory obligation under Section 45. 

So Chair, I have two witnesses.  One is a witness from 

the Registration Department in CORU, who can prove Mr. 

Subramanian's registration.  If that is in dispute, it 

doesn't seem to be, who can also take the Committee 

through his registration here, the renewal process, the 

correspondence with the HCPC, and who will say that at 
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no stage prior to the email in November of 2023 was 

CORU made aware of these interim suspensions other than 

when the HCPC notified CORU on the alert list.  And I 

also have a witness from the HCPC who can prove the 

documentation that I've taken you through from the 

HCPC, in effect proving the two interim suspensions and 

the emails notifying Mr. Subramanian of those 

suspensions and his email that I've referred you to 

where he acknowledges receipt of that email.  

If none of that is in issue, if Mr. Subramanian is not 

disputing any of that, then it won't obviously be 

necessary for me to call that evidence and in that 

scenario, the issue for you will be whether these 

failings on Mr. Subramanian's part amount to 

professional misconduct and/or a breach of the Act.  

And obviously you might want to hear submissions in 

that event in relation to the relevance or otherwise of 

whether it's established that something was done 

innocently but mistakenly, whether something was done 

maliciously, recklessly and so on.  They're all 

submissions that can be made.  Mr Subramanian is 

perfectly entitled to put me on proof, to require me to 

prove all of what I've said, but I think in fairness 

Mr.  Beatty may want to discuss all of that with Mr.  

Subramanian.

CHAIRPERSON:  Well, thank you for that Mr. O'Sullivan.  

What I would suggest at this point is that before Mr.  

Subramanian is asked which way he wants to opt on that 
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course, that Mr Beatty would explain to him the nature 

of the query being put to him, and would explain the 

consequences of that decision.  I would then suggest 

that after that explanation, that we would rise.  Mr. 

Subramanian would have an opportunity to consider his 

position, and can, at that point when we return, that 

he can advise us as to what course of action he wants 

to follow.  Are you happy with that course?

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Absolutely.

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Beatty?

ADVICE PROVIDED TO MR. SUBRAMANIAN

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  Mr. Subramanian, can you hear me?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, yes, I can hear your voice. 

MR. BEATTY:  All right.  So you've heard Mr. O'Sullivan 

go through an outline of what the Registrar's case is, 

and I don't want you to comment on anything for the 

moment.  If you just hear me out and you'll be given 

then an opportunity to outline for the Committee what 

your position is, if you wish to.  

So the way the matter proceeds now is that allegations 

have been made against you, and that is why Mr.  

O'Sullivan outlined for the Committee the nature of 

those allegations and the nature of the evidence.  But 

it is for the Registrar, and when I say the Registrar, 

I mean Mr. O'Sullivan's side of the house, it is for 

them to prove the allegations against you and to do so 
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beyond reasonable doubt.  So the burden is quite high 

on them.  It's more than the civil standard of proof.  

So, that is the job of the Registrar.  You don't have 

to prove anything.  You don't have to prove that you 

are innocent of any of this, you don't have to say or 

do anything.  You can put the Registrar on proof.  

And if you do that, then what's going to happen is Mr.  

O'Sullivan is going to go into evidence and he is going 

to call witnesses to prove what he has already outlined 

to the Committee.  And you will get an opportunity to 

cross-examine those witnesses if you dispute the 

allegations.  And that, again, is your right.  

Once Mr. O'Sullivan and the Registrar have finished 

their case, we hear they're going to call two 

witnesses, but however many witnesses they call, once 

they've finished their case, then the option for you is 

the following.  You can make admissions if that's what 

you wish to do.  Now you can make admissions now if you 

wish to do that, but you could make admissions if 

you're putting the Registrar on proof. 

You can yourself go into evidence and call any 

witnesses you wish.  Now just to let you know, if you 

do go into evidence, then you take an oath or an 

affirmation and you give your version of events and you 

will be subject to cross-examination because that is 

the Registrar's entitlement, Mr. O'Sullivan will be 
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given that entitlement.  

Alternatively, what you could do is you could make a 

submission.  Can you hear me?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  You can make a submission and that 

means that you don't go into evidence, but you simply 

outline for the Committee what your position is.  And 

that means that you will not be subject to 

cross-examination, but anything you say will not be 

given the same weight as though you went in to sworn 

evidence.  Do you understand?  

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  So it could be, and it's not for me to 

decide, it's entirely a matter for you, it could be 

that you're making admissions in relation to these 

matters, in which case you don't want to put the 

Registrar on proof and the Registrar won't call any 

witnesses and then it's a matter for submission and 

it's a matter for what we refer to as mitigation, so to 

explain how the whole thing happened.  And that is of 

course an option available to you and one which you are 

entitled to pursue. 

Equally, you can put the Registrar on proof so that the 

Registrar has to prove the case, in which case they 

will go into evidence and you will cross-examine.  Once 

they have finished their case, you then have the option 

of deciding whether you want to do anything at all, 
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because you could consider them not having proved the 

case, or you yourself can go into evidence or you can 

simply go into submission, or make submissions in 

relation to the substance of the allegations.  That 

won't have the same weight as if you gave sworn 

evidence.  

Now that's all a little bit of a mouthful.  So, there 

are two things you may want to do.  You may want to ask 

me questions or have me repeat that guidance for you.  

Certainly, I will do that if you wish.  You may have 

questions for me.  And then the Chair has suggested 

that, once this process is over, what I mean 'this 

process', me explaining to you or giving you guidance 

as to how the matter is going to proceed, he proposes 

that we take a 10-minute recess.  That is a break, and 

you can digest what you have heard and you can make 

your decisions, your elections then.  So, I suppose the 

first thing is, do you want, sorry, did you hear and do 

you understand everything I said to you?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  And it suggested now that we take a 

break and that you can then decide what you want.  Have 

you any questions for me?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.  As per you told me, you told me 

some submissions, submission, more than submission, I 

have submitted already what the situation and 

everything, and I gave already apologies for my -- 

during the registration renewal plan.  I have already 
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gave apologies and I have the sufficient submission 

already submitted to CORU.

MR. BEATTY:  Okay.  I'm understanding by that, and I 

just want to make sure that this is correct because at 

the moment I don't want you to say anything that might 

prejudice your position.  So, when you refer to 

apologies and stuff, I want to just tease that out a 

little.  So, as I explained to you, the Registrar is on 

proof of these allegations.  You don't have to decide 

now.  You can take the break that's been suggested.  

But I don't think it is probably a good idea for you to 

talk about apologies or anything unless you are not 

going to put the Registrar on proof.  Do you 

understand?  Because that might give the wrong message 

to the Committee, depending on what it is you are going 

to say, and of course nobody knows that yet.  So, there 

is no -- but let us pretend, and I am not suggesting 

that you have done this, but let us pretend that you 

are going to make admissions and you are not going to 

put the Registrar on proof.  The Committee will 

certainly -- sorry, if that happens --

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, I don't have any witness, I 

don't have anything.  So I only supporting my manager 

when I was in Ireland, so no other witness, no other 

thing, anything, I don't have.

MR. BEATTY:  I see and that is just a referee, is it?  

That's just a reference witness, is it?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, yes, because my manager is 

giving positive feedback, only of my experience in 
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Ireland, they are giving good positive and everything.  

Apart from that, I don't have any witness.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  All right, all right.  Well, if 

you're not going to be calling any witnesses, you're 

still entitled to put the Registrar on proof, do you 

understand?  Because you don't have to do anything. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  And the Registrar, you may say, "well, I 

still want the Registrar to prove the case", or you may 

say, "in fact, I'm not denying any of this".  And you 

don't have to indicate what you're going to do now 

because the Chair has suggested you think about it for 

10 minutes.  But ultimately, the Committee is going to 

ask you when we come back from recess what your 

position is.  And based on the guidance I've said to 

you, that is going to be one of two things.  It is 

going to be that you put the Registrar on proof or that 

you admit the allegations.  If you're admitting the 

allegations, you need to consider whether you're 

admitting them as to fact, that is, that what is 

alleged against you occurred.  And if you are admitting 

them as to fact, are you admitting them as to 

professional misconduct, that is, a breach of the Code.  

If you are admitting them as to professional 

misconduct, are you admitting them as regards the 

alleged breach of the Act, that's the 2005 Act.  And 

you heard Mr. O'Sullivan go through the different 

provisions.  So, that is something that the Committee 

are going to ask you to do.  It is completely a matter 
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for yourself.  And unless you have any questions for 

me, the Chair is now proposing that we take a recess 

for 10 minutes.  But if you have any questions, I'm 

happy to answer them.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  Yeah, again, I already almost 

have completed everything in Ireland, so I submitted 

everything from my side.  So, I am in India.  So as per 

told you, advised, I am doing, I'm applying for, you 

know, a supervisory post in Ireland.  That is my 

condition now.

MR. BEATTY:  I wonder if you could just do one thing.  

If you just put the microphone just slightly away from 

your mouth, and if you could just talk a little slower, 

because between the interruptions it's just hard to get 

exactly what you're saying.  Could you just repeat 

that, please?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.  So, at present, I'm in India.  

So as per CORU advised, I am able to attend, I am able 

to apply supervisory posts in Ireland.  So I'm doing 

now, I am playing at the same time I engage in HCPC, a 

Hearing process.  So that's it.  No other anything, so 

I don't have any process anything.  So I'm India, I'm 

applying to get a few posts in Ireland.  I'm engaging 

HCPC process now and I keep on professional development 

and doing now.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes, but I suppose that goes to what your 

intentions are in Ireland and in the UK but just in 

relation to this Inquiry, the Committee are going to 

want to know, there's two allegations against you, 
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you've seen those, they're in the Notice of Inquiry, 

and they're allegations of fact.  It is also alleged 

that if they are proved, they constitute professional 

misconduct and a breach of the Code, and you need to 

decide whether you're putting the Registrar on proof, 

which you're completely entitled to do, or you need to 

decide if you're going to make admissions, which of 

course you're entitled to do, and you're entitled not 

to do, and to put the Registrar on proof.  Does that 

make sense? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, I understand. 

MR. BEATTY:  And the Chairperson is proposing to rise 

for 10 minutes and we will come back and you can 

indicate what your position is.  And again, if you need 

any guidance from me, that's no difficulty at all.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:  What we'll do, we'll rise, we'll come 

back out at 20 to 12 and if you have any queries for 

Mr. Beatty at that point, we'll afford you the 

opportunity to ask those questions again at 20 to 12.  

So that you're able to make your decision on the 

questions you've been asked on a fully informed basis.  

Okay, we see you at 20 to 12.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  So, I come back again at what time?

CHAIRPERSON:  Twenty to 12.

MR. BEATTY:  Eleven 40.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Fine, okay.

SHORT ADJOURNMENT [11:27]
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THE HEARING RESUMED AFTER A SHORT ADJOURNMENT [11:46]

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Subramanian, do you wish to ask any 

further questions of Mr. Beatty at this point?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  No further questions.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  And have you indicated whether 

you, have you made a decision on whether you require 

Mr. O'Sullivan for the Registrar to call the two 

witnesses that he has indicated in terms of the proofs 

of the various matters that he outlined in his 

submission? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  So do you require Mr. O'Sullivan to call 

a witness from the CORU Registration Department to take 

the Committee through each of the documents that Mr. 

O'Sullivan has opened to us?  Are you happy to accept 

those without that formal proof? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I'm happy accept, happy with all.

CHAIRPERSON:  You're happy to accept them without them 

being called as witnesses? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, yeah.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  And does that acceptance relate to 

both the witness that Mr. O'Sullivan indicated that he 

has available from CORU and also the witness that he 

has available from the HCPC in the United Kingdom?  

You're on mute, Mr. Subramanian, so I can't hear you.  

My question to you was, you've indicated that you're 

happy that the witness from CORU is not required to set 

out the proof of your registration and the various 
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emails that Mr. O'Sullivan opened to the Committee?  My 

second question to you was, are you also happy that 

there's not a need for Mr. O'Sullivan to call the 

witness that he has available from the HCPC to prove 

the matters that he opened to the Committee that 

occurred in England?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, sir, I have no comments.  I'm 

happy to proceed.

MR. BEATTY:  I see.  Well, Mr. Subramanian, the 

position is the following.  Do you remember I explained 

to you that you can put the Registrar on proof of the 

allegations?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Do you intend to do that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, sir.

MR. BEATTY:  Okay, so you want them to prove the case?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  No, I don't want to prove any case.

MR. BEATTY:  I see.  So, and I just want to be very 

clear because this is very important for you.  I'm 

going to repeat that if I can.  So your options now are 

to have the Registrar prove the case, and it's for the 

Registrar to prove the case, or you can admit the 

allegations, but if you admit the allegations as to 

fact, then they won't go into evidence and you're 

making an admission in that respect.  Do you understand 

that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, I've no objection.  Carry on.  

No problem.  I totally understand the situation.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  But when you say carry on, 
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unfortunately that doesn't help the Committee because 

we don't know what you mean when you say "carry on".  

So do you want to put the Registrar, I don't mean that 

in a rude sense, but do you want to put the Registrar 

on proof, which you are entitled to do or are you 

admitting the allegations?  

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  It might make sense, perhaps I would 

suggest, if Mr. Subramanian is asked specifically by 

reference to the Notice, if he's admitting individual 

things, because obviously, as you've mentioned, there's 

facts, there's also --

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  I was going to go through that but I 

just wanted to know in general what his approach was.  

So I just want to make sure that you understand what 

you're doing.  Does that make sense? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, Sir. 

MR. BEATTY:  So at the moment, there are two 

allegations against you, and they're included in the 

Notice of Inquiry.  So I'm actually going to do what 

Mr. O'Sullivan has suggested I do, which is probably 

the more cautious approach.  So, if you go to page 3 of 

the booklet.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, Sir.  

MR. BEATTY:  And you'll see there there's a Notice of 

Inquiry.  Do you see that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, Sir.

MR. BEATTY:  And on page 2 at paragraph 1, it's alleged 

against you, so the Registrar is alleging the 

following, that you while registered as a 
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physiotherapist with the Physiotherapist Registration 

Board, failed to notify the Board, whether as soon as 

was reasonably practicable or at all, that on or about 

16 February 2023, you were made the subject of an 

interim suspension order by the Health and Social Care 

Professionals Council in the United Kingdom.  So we're 

just going to deal with that one first if we can.  Do 

you require the Registrar, that is Mr. O'Sullivan's 

side of the house, do you want them to prove that 

allegation or are you accepting that allegation?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I accept the allegation.

MR. BEATTY:  Okay, that means ultimately that the 

Committee will make a finding as to fact in relation to 

that allegation against you.  Do you appreciate that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes. 

MR. BEATTY:  And then we're going to stick with that 

allegation because in addition to making that 

allegation as to fact, they're also claiming that if 

proved and if you're admitting to it, and of course 

subject to the Committee, it will be proved.  And 

they're then alleging that that constitutes 

professional misconduct by reason of the fact that it 

is a breach of the Code of Conduct and you'll see 5(b), 

7(a) and (b), 20(e) and 22.1(b) and (c) and they're 

alleging that if that allegation is found against you, 

that is, Allegation 1, that it constitutes professional 

misconduct by reason of a breach of those paragraphs of 

the Code.  Now, do you want to put them on proof of 

that or do you accept that that is the case? 
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MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I accept the case, Committee.  

MR. BEATTY:  I see.  And they're also alleging, and 

we're going to stick with paragraph number 1 again, 

they're also alleging that it constitutes a breach of 

Section 45(d), (e) and (f) of the legislation, that is 

the 2005 Act, and I'm happy to go through those with 

you.  Do you want to put them on proof of that or do 

you accept that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I accept that.

MR. BEATTY:  I see.  And then in relation to allegation 

2, that is that you failed to notify the Board, whether 

as soon as was reasonably practical or at all, that on 

or about 16 February 2023, you were made the subject of 

a further interim suspension order by the Health and 

Social Care Professions Council in the United Kingdom.  

Now, do you wish to put them on proof of that, or do 

you accept that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I already explained the previous 

explanation, so one of the reasons why I didn't attend 

the 16th hearing with HCPC.

MR. BEATTY:  Sorry?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I already explained to CORU 

previously.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes, no, I appreciate that you're going to 

put it in context, but as a matter of fact, do you 

admit that that is correct, or do you want the 

Registrar to prove it, which you're entitled to do?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I accept the claim.

MR. BEATTY:  I see.  And it's also alleged that if you 
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accept it and again subject to the Committee but if 

they make a finding in relation to allegation 2, it's 

also alleged against you that that is professional 

misconduct by reason of a breach of the Code of Conduct 

and specifically paragraphs 5(b), 7(a) and (b), 20(e) 

and 22.1(b) and (c).  Do you see that in the Notice of 

Inquiry?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Do you wish to put them on proof of that, 

or do you admit that that is a breach of those 

paragraphs of the Code of Conduct?  

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  You do admit to it, is it?  I just want to 

be clear.  

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, Sir.

MR. BEATTY:  And then, also, if they find in relation 

to allegation 2, as a matter of fact, it is also 

alleged against you that that constitutes a breach of 

the 2005 Act and specifically paragraphs 45.1(d) and 

45.1(e) and 45.1(f).  Do you want them to prove that, 

which you're then entitled to do, or do you make an 

admission in relation to that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I'm not clear, I'm not clear.  You 

have clarification.  Can you please, Sir?  

MR. BEATTY:  Yes, that's no problem.  So, it is alleged 

against you that if the Committee finds that allegation 

2 is proved, now that's a matter for the Committee, but 
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in circumstances where you've admitted to it, it is 

also alleged against you that if they make that finding 

of fact in relation to allegation 2, that that 

constitutes a breach of section 45.1(d) and 45.1(e) and 

45.1(f) of the Act.  Now, the Registrar has to approve 

that unless you admit to it.  You don't have to admit 

to it.  But unless you admit to it.  So do you want 

them to prove it, or do you want to admit to that? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I admit that.

MR. BEATTY:  I see.  So, and I just want to be clear 

then, so you're admitting in relation to, sorry, you're 

admitting both allegations 1 and 2, both in relation to 

professional misconduct and both in relation to a 

breach of the Act?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  [Nodded in affirmation]  

MR. BEATTY:  I see.  Well, what's going to happen if 

that's the case is that, and again, it's not for me, 

it's for the Committee, but it is more likely than not 

that the Committee will make those findings against 

you.  And then the Registrar will now most likely be 

given, and when I say the Registrar, I mean Mr. 

O'Sullivan's side of the house, will be given an 

opportunity to make a submission and you too will be 

given an opportunity to also make a submission.  You 

can explain exactly how this came about and the 

Committee will listen to you and they will consider 

that.  Again, you can do that by way of sworn evidence, 

in which case you will take the oath or the affirmation 

and you will be subject to cross-examination or you can 
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simply explain it to the Committee by way of submission 

and if you do that you won't be cross-examined but 

equally it wouldn't have the same weight than if you 

gave it by way of sworn evidence.  Does that make 

sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  And then what is going to... 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I hope... 

MR. BEATTY:  Sorry?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Already, I have explained more than 

explained to the CORU what the reason and everything.  

So, do you want again the submissions?

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  Yes.  No, I think it is important 

that you set that out for the Committee slowly and 

carefully, so that they hear your version and you make 

sure that they know that.  And then what's going to 

happen is I'm going to give the Committee advice.  And 

that advice to the Committee is going to be legal 

advice as to how this matter proceeds from here.  And 

you will be given an opportunity to respond to that, as 

will Mr. O'Sullivan.  You can either agree with it, you 

can disagree with it, but most likely in circumstances 

where you're not represented, there will be one or two 

things that I touch on that may occur to you that you 

want to make further submissions to the Committee.  If 

that happens, I would advise the Committee to listen to 

anything additional that you have to say, because it 

may be that I have raised something that occurs to you 

that you want to address with the Committee.  Does that 
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make sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes. 

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  All right.

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. O'Sullivan, in light of those 

admissions, do you wish to proceed at this point or do 

you need a few moments? 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  No, Chair, I don't need any time at 

all.  In the light of the admissions, it's unnecessary 

for me to call any evidence it seems and so what I 

would propose to do is to make a closing submission to 

you in which I'll reiterate some of what I've said by 

way of opening.  I'll try to tailor specifically in 

relation to the allegations and then I'll make 

submissions on sanction.

MR. BEATTY:  Sorry, the Chair was just explaining that 

the Respondent, Mr. Subramanian, should probably just 

elect whether he's going into evidence.  So, Mr. 

Subramanian, the Registrar has confirmed that they 

intend to make submissions.  What that means, is that 

they no longer need to go into evidence because of the 

admissions that you've made, but they're going to make 

submissions, which is just arguments as to what the 

Committee can do and what the Committee should do.  And 

you're going to be given a like opportunity to say what 

you want to say.  But before that happens, I just want 

to make sure that you have an opportunity, if you wish, 

to go into sworn evidence.  Now, what that means is, 

you said the Registrar doesn't need to go into evidence 

because of your admissions, and that's fine, but you 
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can go into evidence, and you can give sworn evidence 

explaining it.  You don't have to.  You can give 

submissions in the same way that the Registrar is and 

the Committee will consider those.  It probably won't 

give them the same weight as they would be given, or 

won't give them the same weight as though it was sworn 

evidence.  But it is something you're entitled to do.  

So you're entitled now -- The way this proceeds now is 

either you go into sworn evidence, in which case you'd 

be cross-examined, or you decide not to go into sworn 

evidence, which is entirely your entitlement, in which 

case the Registrar is going to make what is known as 

closing submissions.  They are going to say, now that 

these admissions have been made, this is what the 

Committee can do and should do, and you will be given 

an opportunity to make closing submissions, which is, 

"I just want the Committee to know that whilst I have 

made admissions, these are the circumstances or the 

context in which the conduct occurred."  And equally, 

you can do that by way of sworn evidence.  But that's 

how it will proceed now.  So it's really a matter for 

you whether you wish to go into sworn evidence now or 

simply let the matter conclude by way of submission.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, I can give the submission, but 

that is no updated information.  It's the same like 

before when I was in Ireland.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes, well that's perfectly valid.  

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  No update information because I 

already back to India, I'm currently in India, I'm 
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attending and receiving programme and engaging in the 

HCPC process and applying job as a working post in 

Ireland.  This is my update information, no further 

update information.  So, already I submitted when I was 

in Ireland. 

CHAIRPERSON:  And just by way of information Mr. 

Subramanian, when you are making your submission, would 

you please be aware that anything that you've already 

said to CORU that hasn't been opened or repeated to us 

this morning by Mr. O'Sullivan, we are not aware of.  

So, everything we have heard about this case is what we 

have heard this morning.  We have not, as a Committee, 

we have not seen any submissions that you have made 

before in writing, or we're not aware of anything that 

you have said to CORU.  So please be aware of that when 

you're making your submission to the Committee.  We are 

not aware of any letters or anything like that that you 

may have written previously.  So please, if you are 

looking to rely on those, you might remember to open 

them to the Committee.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  So I can send again the same from 

starting onwards.

CHAIRPERSON:  Well, perhaps if you directed the 

Committee to where in the core book those letters are 

contained, if you wish us to be aware of anything like 

that, or else, that if you read them out to us by way 

of, when you're making your submission, that just be 

aware that the only thing that we will know from you is 

what you tell us.
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MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  If you've no query on what I've 

just said Mr. O'Sullivan?

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  I totally agree with that, it makes 

perfect sense, Chair.  

CLOSING SUBMISSION BY MR. O'SULLIVAN

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  By way of closing submission then, in 

the light of the admissions, I won't go into matters in 

as much detail as I would have otherwise, but as you 

well know, you have the two factual allegations in the 

Notice of Inquiry, and they both allege a failure to 

notify the Board, whether as soon as was reasonably 

practicable or at all, of the two interim suspensions 

in the UK, one on the 16th of February, the other on 

the 16th of August.  And I've already referred you to 

these when opening and I'm not going to read any of 

them out again, but you have at page 204 of the core 

book the decision of the Interim Orders Panel made in 

February of 2023 and as you know they decided to impose 

an Interim Suspension.  

You have at page 486 the email that was sent to Mr. 

Subramanian's email address, subsequently notifying him 

of that Interim Suspension.  

And you know, and it's acknowledged that Mr. 

Subramanian did not notify CORU of the imposition of 
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that interim suspension within seven days or indeed in 

the months that followed.

You then have at page 416 the decision of the Interim 

Orders Panel to confirm the suspension, in other words 

to continue the suspension, in August, and at page 499 

you have the screenshot of the email sent to Mr. 

Subramanian, making him aware of that particular 

decision.  And again, it is common case that Mr. 

Subramanian did not make CORU aware of that within 

seven days or indeed in the weeks and months that 

followed.  And I'll come in a moment to the email he 

did send after the correspondence emanating from CORU 

where he does refer to these things after he's been 

asked a number of specific and pointed questions. 

You also have the factor which you can't ignore, I 

suggest, that Mr. Subramanian applied to renew his 

registration in September of 2023 and you've seen from 

the memo at page 69 prepared by Ms. Bennett that he was 

asked a number of questions at that time.  This is 

September, as I've said, of 2023 in relation to 

relevant matters.  And at page 73 and 74, you see she 

sets out what was ticked and what wasn't ticked.  And 

he ticked a box to confirm that he wasn't the subject 

of proceedings of any sort, either in the Republic of 

Ireland or in any other jurisdiction, "which could lead 

to conditions being imposed on my registration or 

licence or my registration or licence being suspended, 
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withdrawn, or removed." 

And in paragraph 14, he confirmed that he had no 

declarations to make, and he could confirm that he 

wasn't subject of any proceedings.  And that wasn't the 

case, as you know.  

And what Mr. Subramanian says in his response at page 

94 is that he misunderstood and he thought that he was 

being asked solely about any issues or difficulties in 

the Republic of Ireland.  But of course you see from 

page 73 that the declaration very clearly reads, 

"proceedings of any sort, either in the Republic of 

Ireland or in any other jurisdiction."  So the question 

that was posed of him is very clear indeed. 

You also know that after the interim suspension was 

imposed in the UK in February, Mr. Subramanian lost his 

job and he obtained employment several months later in 

this jurisdiction in July of 2023.  And as I mentioned 

in opening, this chronology of events demonstrates, I 

suggest, why it is so important that Registrants comply 

with their disclosure obligations and make CORU aware 

of issues that have arisen elsewhere because CORU was 

unaware of matters in the UK and therefore wasn't in a 

position to conduct its own inquiries or investigations 

to decide whether in the light of what had occurred in 

the UK it was necessary to take measures in this 

jurisdiction to protect the public.  And I'm not 
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suggesting that those measures would have been taken 

because that would be to speculate, but they ought to 

have been put on Inquiry to allow for the appropriate 

measures to be taken to decide what, if anything, had 

to be done. 

The email that was sent to Mr. Subramanian after his 

name appeared on the list that came from the HCPC, 

asked him a couple of very specific questions and that 

exchange begins at page 42.  And on the 26th of 

October, he was asked to confirm his HCPC registration 

number, the current status of his registration, whether 

there were restrictions or conditions imposed, and 

whether he was the subject of any fitness to practise 

proceedings.

And at page 43 he replies and he says he's requested 

the HCPC to cancel his registration due to some issues.  

He doesn't say what those issues were.  He does say to 

be fair, "if you require additional information, please 

feel free to reach out to me", but he didn't 

specifically address the very direct and clear queries 

that were posed in the email.  

He did subsequently, in fairness to him, at page 44, he 

was asked to provide his HCPC registration number and 

in response to that he disclosed for the first time on 

the 13th of November 2023, so some nine months after 

the imposition of the interim suspension in February 
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and approximately three months after the confirmation 

of that suspension in August.  He says:

"I would like to update you that I submitted a request 

to the HCPC on the 13th of September 2023 for 

cancellation.  However, an interim order was imposed on 

the 16th of February 2023 with the Interim Suspension 

last reviewed on the 16th of August 2023." 

So, perhaps you might suggest he doesn't provide full 

and complete information in relation to those matters 

in this email, but he does refer to them and he refers 

to an interim suspension.  So that's the first time 

that he discloses these matters and it's much, much 

later than he ought to have done and significantly it's 

many months after he obtained employment in this 

jurisdiction. 

In relation to the provisions of the Code and the 

Sections of the Act, again, because of the admissions, 

I'm going to go through them quite quickly, but if we 

go back to the Notice, page 4, of the PDF, that is, 

there's the obligation at 5(b):  

"To inform the Board within 7 days if your employer or 

another body has suspended you or placed restrictions 

on your practice because of concerns about your conduct 

or competence." 
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Now you've seen from the decisions of the Interim 

Orders Panel that there were concerns about competence.  

He disputes them, but there were concerns about 

competence that prompted the complaint in the UK.  He 

was duty-bound under the Code to notify CORU within 

seven days, and he didn't do so.  He didn't do so 

within eight or nine or ten days.  It took months and 

months and months, and in fact it was only when he was 

asked very specific questions and a follow-up email was 

sent when he hadn't addressed them initially, that it 

was disclosed.  So, I would suggest to you that there's 

a very clear and obvious contravention of that 

particular provision which as I mentioned when opening 

is there for very good reason.  It is to enable CORU to 

exercise its function to protect the public where 

appropriate. 

He also, I suggest, contravened Section 7, which 

requires him to obey the laws, regulations and 

guidelines.  So he must:

"(a) know and work within the laws, regulations or 

guidelines governing his practice."  

He didn't do that because he contravened Section 45 by 

not notifying CORU as soon as was practicable of these 

Interim Suspensions in the UK and nor did he follow 

regulations and guidelines because he didn't follow the 

Code.  And there's undoubtedly an overlap between some 
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of these, but nevertheless, he did also breach that 

provision of the Code, I suggest. 

"Obey the laws of the country in which you live and 

work." 

So we know he was living and working in Ireland as of 

July and he didn't comply with Section 45.  So again, 

that has been contravened. 

Section 20, to be fair to Mr. Subramanian, I think you 

should have a look at.  He has made admissions, but I'm 

not suggesting you should accept those admissions 

without interrogating the question.  That indicates you 

must raise concerns about safety and quality of care.  

It says:  

"You must report any serious breaches of behaviour or 

malpractice by yourself or others.  Malpractice 

includes negligence and competence, breach of contract, 

professional behavior, causing danger to health, safety 

or the environment, and covering up any of those 

issues." 

Now, it doesn't refer to allegations of poor behavior 

or malpractice.  We know Mr. Subramanian disputes the 

underlying allegations in the UK.  So you may feel that 

that particular obligation wasn't triggered.  It's a 

matter for you to consider.  It does speak of breaches 
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of behavior or malpractice, not allegations.

And lastly, in relation to the Code 22 says:  

"You must always behave with integrity and honesty."

And I suggest it is clear, unfortunately, from the 

evidence that Mr. Subramanian didn't because this was 

information that ought to have been provided.  He had 

numerous opportunities to do so, including when he 

applied for renewal and he didn't do so.  And that you 

have to make sure you read, understand and comply with 

the Code and self-evidently, he didn't comply with the 

Code.  We don't know whether he read it or understood 

it.  He certainly didn't comply with it. 

In relation to 45.1(d), (e) and (f) then, I took you 

through those when opening the case.  And the 

definition of "material matter", is very important in 

relation to those obligations.  And as you know from 

page 557, the material matter includes a suspension of 

a registration or licence.  So the obligations under 

Section 45 were triggered in February '23 and again in 

August '23.  And if there had been a disclosure within 

a matter of weeks or even a month or six weeks or 

whatever, you might have a scenario where you have to 

have a dispute about what is meant by as soon as 

reasonably practicable.  But that's not the case here 

because you're talking about nine months roughly in the 
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case of the February decision and three months in the 

case of the August decision.  And I would suggest to 

you that when you look at what is required of somebody, 

that is to either ring or email or send a letter to 

CORU simply telling them that this has occurred in the 

UK, that is not an onerous obligation.  And it is 

something that a professional person ought to be able 

to do expeditiously. 

The admissions and the admitted evidence, I suggest, 

leads inexorably to the conclusion that findings should 

be made against Mr. Subramanian in respect of both 

allegations, that he was guilty of professional 

misconduct in respect of both allegations, both 

failings.  And that he contravened the provisions of 

the Act in respect of both allegations.  And of course, 

once findings are made, as you well know, the Council 

has to consider the issue of sanction.  And again, as 

you well know, you as a Committee, generally speaking, 

would include in your report to Council a 

recommendation as to sanction.  And I know you'll be 

very familiar with the sanctions that can be imposed in 

these types of cases by Council where findings are made 

but at page 676 of the book.  Perhaps that's not the 

right page, sorry.  It's not.  Section 66 is at page 

627, sorry.    

The Council can admonish or censure.  They can attach 

conditions including restrictions on practice.  They 
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can suspend a person's registration for a specified 

period, they can cancel a person's registration, and 

they can impose a prohibition from applying for a 

specified period for restoration, and they can do any 

one or more of those things.  So they're not confined 

to any one of them.

And you'll be very familiar with the principles that 

govern the imposition of sanction.  I know Mr. Beatty 

will be giving you advice, but again, in broad terms, 

the paramount consideration always is to protect the 

public.  You also have to ensure that by recommending a 

sanction and ultimately the council when imposing a 

sanction, act in a manner that promotes trust and 

confidence in the profession, including its 

regulations, so that the public know when they deal 

with members of regulated professions, here 

physiotherapy, that they're dealing with people who are 

members of a well-regulated profession and that it's a 

profession where if people step out of line, 

appropriate action is taken so that we can all be 

comfortable when we're dealing with registered 

professionals, that we're dealing with people who are 

working as part of this robust regulatory structure. 

You also should be conscious of the concept of 

deterrence and the objective of sending a message to 

Mr. Subramanian, but also to the profession more 

broadly, in relation to how conduct like this is viewed 
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by the regulatory body.  And the idea there is that you 

lay down a marker, an appropriate marker.  It doesn't 

mean you impose a disproportionate marker, but you lay 

down an appropriate marker so that this particular 

Registrant and any other registrant who might find 

themselves in a similar situation, knows of the 

consequences if they fail to comply with their ethical 

and statutory obligations, so that they won't fall into 

the same mischief that Mr. Subramanian fell into here. 

And the final thing that you should be conscious of, of 

course, is the need to arrive at a recommendation that 

is proportionate, that is to be as lenient as you can 

be without undermining the other objectives that I've 

referred to, but taking account of mitigating factors 

and context of course.

I think you will have to consider the question of the 

motivation behind what Mr. Subramanian did to the 

extent that you feel you're in a position to form a 

conclusion in relation to that, because the courts have 

made it very clear that if a person is guilty of 

dishonesty, or if they act in a manner that is in 

breach of an obligation of trust that they have, and of 

course there's an obligation of trust between a 

regulatory body and a registered person, then they are 

aggravating factors.  In other words, they're factors 

that militate towards a harsher sanction, as distinct 

from a more lenient sanction.
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And what Mr. Subramanian has suggested in relation to 

the September renewal, as I've said, is that he 

misunderstood the question.  Now, I suggest to you that 

the question is extremely clear in referring both to 

processes in Ireland and processes elsewhere.  

It's also an inescapable fact, I suggest, and I alluded 

to this earlier, that Mr. Subramanian's career in the 

UK came to a close at least on an interim basis in 

February of 2023.  And without notifying CORU of these 

difficulties, he obtained employment here in July of 

2023.  And then in September 2023, he answered the 

question in the way that he did, despite the very clear 

terms of the question.  And then in response to the 

first email sent to him by CORU, asking the very 

specific questions in relation to his registration 

status, whether there's any restrictions imposed, 

whether he's the subject of any investigative process 

over there.  He dodged those questions on the first 

occasion.  He did say, "if you require further 

information, come back to me", and CORU did, and then 

he provided the information, but he didn't provide it 

on the first occasion.  And the questions asked were 

very specific. 

So, these questions are asked and these duties are 

imposed for very good reason.  They're not asked simply 

to be difficult.  They're not there to try to make 

somebody's life difficult.  They're there so that 
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potentially very relevant information in relation to 

matters that are outside of CORU'S knowledge because 

they occur elsewhere are brought to CORU'S attention.  

And if Mr. Subramanian did what he did carelessly but 

honestly, that is one thing.  It's still professional 

misconduct, I suggest.  It's still a breach of the Act, 

but it's perhaps less serious on the spectrum of 

breaches of the Act and professional misconduct.  But 

if he did so recklessly, that is much more serious.  

And if he did so dishonestly, i.e. with the intention 

to deceive for his own purposes, potentially to keep 

his employment in Ireland without CORU going down the 

same rabbit hole the HCPC here were going down, then 

that is most serious indeed, because it is, as I say, 

an intentional act of dishonesty designed to deceive.

And you'll have to consider the evidence in the round, 

and if you're not satisfied that it's been established 

that Mr. Subramanian acted dishonestly, then of course 

it wouldn't be appropriate to recommend a sanction 

reflective of a finding of dishonesty.  And you'll have 

to grapple with what you're satisfied the evidence 

establishes in terms of whether this was honest 

carelessness, recklessness, which is more serious 

again, or dishonesty.  That's a matter for you, but it 

is relevant to the question of sanction. 

Those are my submissions, unless you have any 

questions.
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CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. O'Sullivan, thank you for that most 

comprehensive and wide-ranging submission.  I'm 

conscious of the fact that as it was so comprehensive 

and so wide-ranging, it is only fair for Mr. 

Subramanian to have an opportunity to absorb it and to 

deal with the points that you've raised in detail.  So 

what I'm going to suggest is that we would adjourn and 

we will reconvene at quarter past two and that will 

give Mr. Subramanian an opportunity to furnish us with 

his submission in reply to what you have said.  

I'm particularly conscious of the fact that Mr. 

Subramanian had implied earlier that we might have had 

knowledge of his previous submissions, which we don't, 

so at least that will give them an opportunity to 

prepare a full submission in reply to what you've just 

said.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you Chair.

CHAIRPERSON:  So we will accordingly adjourn until 

quarter past two at which stage we will hear Mr. 

Subramanian in reply.  Mr. Subramanian did you 

understand that? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes I can understand. 

CHAIRPERSON:  So we will hear from you at 2.15, quarter 

past 2. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay 2.15 all right, okay.

CHAIRPERSON:  2.15, quarter past 2. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.
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LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT [12:28]

THE HEARING RESUMED AFTER LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT [14:29]

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you all for returning so promptly 

and my apologies for the slight delay which was outside 

our control.

MR. BEATTY:  That was my fault.

CHAIRPERSON:  So, Mr. Subramanian, are you in a 

position to proceed?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, perfect.  And we can hear you 

perfectly as well.  Now, please feel free to start, and 

if there's any advice needed or anything that you need 

any advice on process or procedure or anything like 

that, please don't hesitate to ask.  So if you wish to 

start.

SUBMISSION BY MR. SUBRAMANIAN

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  So same like one before.  Can 

I go?

CHAIRPERSON:  Yeah, I can hear you, yeah.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  So, there's no new update, any 

information, because I am now in India, and I have 

actively attending the Continuous Professional 

Development Programme, CME programme.  At the same 

time, I'm engaging with the HCPC Hearing process with a 
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future meeting for next month.  At the same time, as 

per CORU advised, so I have actually applied for the 

supervisory post in Ireland. 

CHAIRPERSON:  I didn't quite get that.  The last line 

you said there.  Could you repeat that?  I did get that 

you are now in India, that you are undergoing CPD 

programmes and that you are engaging in the HCPC 

process.  I did not hear what you said about CORU.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, CORU advised like supervisory 

post for me.  So I actively applied in Ireland.  So I 

have more positive feedback.  At the same time, I'm not 

eligible candidate.  For example, in international 

candidate, they need a skilled work visa.  So, the 

supervisory post not possible for skilled work visa.  

So, that's not suitable for me.  That's my point here.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Can you hear me? 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yeah.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  So, at the same time, so that's the 

reason I want, just asking the CORU, is there any 

opportunity for me for proving my competency?  Is there 

any opportunity for me?

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  I'm going to have Mr. Beatty 

advise you, but could I, in terms of the submission 

that you're to make to the Committee are you instead of 

looking towards other posts in the future etcetera, I 

think Mr. O'Sullivan's submission was very much 

concentrated on what has happened to date and what has 

occurred up until now.  Do you wish to address the 
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issues that Mr. O'Sullivan made in his submission?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.  That is the reason [inaudible].  

Anyway, I have addressed and rectified my mistakes.  At 

the same time, I have proved the months in Ireland 

employer.  So, I have addressed the mistakes from 

allegations in HCPC and I rectified one year, six 

months in Ireland.  So, really, it's a learning process 

for me.  At the same time, I have addressed for the 

CORU allegations, number one and number two, like.  So 

very clearly about me.  So, that's the reason I'm doing 

the CPD programme.  At the same time, I really realised 

my tremendous learning programme.

MR. BEATTY:  So, sorry, it's Frank Beatty here again.  

Good afternoon, Mr. Subramanian.  How are you?  Can you 

hear me?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Sorry?

MR. BEATTY:  Can you hear me?  It's Frank Beatty here 

again. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, I can hear your voice, yes. 

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  There's just a number of things you 

touched on there, which I'm just going to go through.  

In circumstances where you have made admissions and in 

circumstances where the Registrar has engaged with you, 

sorry, has engaged with the Committee in relation to 

closing submissions, really what the Committee want to 

hear from you is anything by way of mitigation.  Does 

that make sense?  So, when I say mitigation, if there 

are circumstances leading to the alleged misconduct 

that you think sheds a favourable light on your 
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position, for example, and this is just by way of 

example, if you were under pressure at the time, I am 

not saying that would excuse it, but if there is 

anything around the circumstances that led to it or if 

there was a misunderstanding, this is the time to tell 

the Committee that.  Now, I will advise the Committee 

to take account of factors such as, the fact that you 

have made admissions, because that does demonstrate a 

level of what we term here as, insight.  But it is for 

you, I suppose, to make the submission at this stage, 

and obviously you will be given an opportunity to do it 

after my advices.  But now is the time to explain to 

the Committee how -- if there are any favourable 

circumstances that explain or shed light on why it is 

that you did what you did, and if those go to your 

credit, then certainly those are matters that you 

should now explain to the Committee.  Does that make 

sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  Yes.

MR. BEATTY:  And just before you say that, there is, 

and I should just tell you about this now, and I'm just 

trying to find where it is.  You said, is there 

anything that you can do by way of further education?  

And there is, and I'm just trying to find the provision 

here -- sorry, I'm just trying to find the provision 

that provides for --

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Sorry?

MR. BEATTY:  I'm trying to find the provision that 

provides for -- is it Section 66?  
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MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Is it undertakings you're talking 

about? 

MR. BEATTY:  Undertakings and consent.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Page 626, it's Section 61.

MR. BEATTY:  Section 61.  There is a provision which I 

should just tell you about under the Act.  I will read 

it out to you.  It provides that:  

"A Committee of Inquiry may, at any time after a 

complaint is referred to it, request the Registrant 

concerned to do one or more of the following;

(a) undertake not to repeat the conduct to which the 

complaint relates,

(b) undertaken to take such educational courses, 

training or other means of improving your competence to 

practise, as may be specified by the registration board 

concerned,

(c) consent to undergo medical treatment, 

(d) consent to being admonished or censured by the 

Council." 

And Subsection 2 provides that if you refuse to give 

that undertaking or consent, then the Committee can 

proceed to make findings.  So essentially what that is, 

is it's a little bit of a halfway house.  I am sure the 
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Registrar will have a view on it, but I simply wanted 

to bring that to your attention.  You could invite the 

Committee, instead of making findings, you could ask 

them to request a consent and undertaking under the 

legislation, under the Act.  I just want you to know 

that that is an option available to you.  But if you 

wish to make submissions, you are going to need to 

address the Committee in relation to, as I say, 

mitigating circumstances.  Does that make sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. BEATTY:  Okay.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.  Okay.  So I can understand.  

So, mainly, yeah, so last time I attended the CORU, so, 

CORU requested me, so I'm frequently attending now, 

Continuous Professional Development programmes and 

everything.  So I'm in short-term course and 

everything, I can prove my competencies, so I am 

attending and learning now.  So, everything I am doing.  

So, if you give the time, then I can give the 

submission to you later through email. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Subramanian, I am loath to interrupt.  

My query is that you had indicated earlier that you had 

made submissions to CORU and that they are contained 

somewhere in the core book.  I'm just concerned that 

you have said that you've made submissions that have 

yet to be opened to us and I had thought when we were 

coming back that it was your intention to open those 

submissions to us you had indicated just before lunch.  

Now perhaps Mr. O'Sullivan you might be of assistance 
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to Mr. Subramanian and to the Committee to perhaps 

advise the Committee if those submissions do exist?

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Yes, certainly, Chair.  So the two 

sets of submissions that have been made to CORU, I have 

referred you to.  I didn't open them in their totality, 

but it's page 94 and into page 95.  The first set and 

then --

MR. BEATTY:  Page 73?

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Yes.  Is the second set.  Now, there 

were also submissions made to the HCPC which are 

specific to the issues there that came in the HCPC 

bundle.  I haven't referred you to those.  I can, but 

the two sets of submissions to CORU, unless Mr. 

Subramanian wants to point me to something I've missed 

in the papers, I think they're the only two.

MR. BEATTY:  So, essentially what has been said, Frank 

Beatty here again, what the Chairperson has asked, 

you've suggested that you could put in written 

submissions and the Chair has brought to your attention 

pages 94 of that core book, through Mr. O'Sullivan, 

pages 94 and page 473.  Those are submissions that you 

have already made to CORU, but you have not made to 

this Committee.  So, obviously, if you wish to open 

those and repeat them or read them into the record, 

because they explain why you did what you did, you are 

certainly entitled to do that.  Obviously, if you wish 

to apply to the Committee for a facility whereby they 

give you time to do submissions, you can obviously also 

do that.  But do you want to go any further than the 
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submissions contained in your correspondence at page 94 

and 473?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.  So, I very clearly about the, 

you know, regarding the manual handling programme.  So 

the HCPC mainly in allocation have manual handling, do 

a manual handling thing.  At the same time, I was in 

Ireland, is a manual handling instructor.  That is 

point I'm telling you.  Manual handling instructor.  I 

am the instructor, at the same time, I am the providing 

certificate for the [inaudible]. 

MR. BEATTY:  Yes, Mr. Subramanian, and I don't mean 

this in any disparaging or rude way, but if you could 

just listen to what I'm saying to you, if that makes 

sense.  So, page 94, you've put in submissions or a 

response --

CHAIRPERSON:  Could I ask the Secretariat, perhaps, to 

put page 94 up on the screen by way of screen share to 

aid the discussion on this particular point. 

MR. BEATTY:  Just while that is being done, you have 

made submissions to CORU, which you referred this 

Committee to, and they are contained on page 94 and 

page 473.  I want to make sure, because you are not 

represented, that if you want to refer to those, either 

by reading them into the record or just telling the 

Committee to read them themselves, then you should do 

that.  Obviously, if you want other facilities, such as 

making further submissions in writing, you can make an 

application to that.  But I'd just be slightly worried, 

or at least the Chair is worried, and I can understand 
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why he might be, he's just slightly worried that you 

actually have made submissions, but these have not been 

seen in any detail by the Committee, and you may wish 

to go through them.  If you wish, you may not wish to, 

but he's just anxious that you may wish to do it and if 

you do, then that's something you should do.  Does that 

make sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Now, if you need a minute or two to read 

over them and to get your thoughts together, certainly 

take that time.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  If it's of any assistance to Mr. 

Subramanian, if he does want to get into his 

submissions to the HCPC, they begin at page 111 of the 

book.

MR. BEATTY:  And then there are further submissions, 

Mr. O'Sullivan has said, albeit in relation to the UK 

procedure, at page 111.  But I understand that to be an 

engagement on poor professional performance and it 

could in fact conflate issues, but that is for the 

Committee.  So, Mr. Subramanian, do you wish, having 

looked at page 94 and 95 there, does that help you at 

all?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes Sir, yes Sir, I can see the notes 

here.  I can see.

MR. BEATTY:  Excellent.  And there's also notes at page 

473, and there's also notes at page 111, albeit not in 

relation to this complaint, but in relation to the 

issue that arose in the UK.  Now, we have those on the 
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screen in front of us, but you will have access to them 

separately.  And it just occurs to the Committee that 

in those documents, you articulated to CORU and you 

explained to CORU why you behaved the way you did, but 

you haven't actually told the Committee that.  And so 

the Chair is wondering, do you want to look at these 

documents and go through this with the Committee, or 

just bring them to the Committee's attention and they 

will have a look at them themselves.  Obviously, if 

there are other issues that you want to address, you 

should do that separately.  But just in relation to 

these documents, for the time being, do you wish to 

engage on what those documents say?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, there are two reasons.  I had a 

situation.  I can write this one because when I was 

joined there, I did not have an actual job.  That is 

the reason I just mentioned for my manager.

MR. BEATTY:  Okay.  So would you do you wish the 

Committee to look at these documents or do you wish to 

read them in yourself?  Do you wish the Committee to 

look at the documents at page 94, page 473 and page 

111?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  No, I already read here, so no need 

to wish to see them again.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes, but just remember now the Committee 

haven't seen those documents in detail.  Mr. O'Sullivan 

did bring them to their attention, but they haven't 

seen them in any detail.  So if there's any part of 

these documents that you wish to emphasise or highlight 
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or you think is very important and goes to explain your 

behaviour, then certainly... 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  No, no, because of the situation, 

that is what I explained.  So, when I got joined, it 

was not an actual job.  That is the reason.  One of the 

exact situations I explained to the CORU.

MR. BEATTY:  All right.  So, the Committee should 

consider those documents, should it?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  Yes.  And then, there are a few other 

things that you might wish to consider.  I have brought 

Section 61 to your attention.  You may want to look at 

that.  But in addition to that, it has been suggested 

by Mr. O'Sullivan that if one looks at the 

circumstances leading to your behaviour, specifically 

the fact that it was clearly within your knowledge at 

the time that you completed the renewals, it was 

clearly known to you that, in fact, there was an 

Interim Suspension and that there was a timing, the 

timing coincided with you maybe transferring from 

England to Ireland, such that it may be on an objective 

interpretation.  It may support a proposition that in 

fact there was an element of dishonesty here.  And that 

is something you may wish to address with the 

Committee, because if you disagree with that, because 

that may go to sanction, that is something that you 

should explain to the Committee why you disagree with 

it and why that is wrong, if you say that there was no 

element of dishonesty.  Do you understand? 
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MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. BEATTY:  So now it's completely, I mean, I can't, 

and I don't mean this again in any, I don't mean to be 

rude to you, but I can't do that for you.  It's not my 

job.  And you're not separately represented.  So now 

the Committee is giving you the opportunity to say 

whatever it is you want to say, and you've very fairly 

admitted to the conduct, you've admitted that it's a 

professional misconduct, you've admitted that it's a 

breach of the Act.  So now, in the event that the 

Committee take that, and in the event that they make 

findings against you, they will make a recommendation, 

or they may make a recommendation, to Council as to 

sanction.  So, if you think the sanction should be a 

lenient sanction, so it shouldn't be too harsh on you 

because your conduct occurred at a certain time or 

there is some explanation, now is the time for you to 

explain that to the Committee.  Does that make sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, I understand.

MR. BEATTY:  Okay, well I think you should do that now.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Hello?

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes, we can hear you Mr. Subramanian.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Hello?

CHAIRPERSON:  We can hear you, yeah.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  So, can I explain again?  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yeah.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  So I work at the Birmingham 

NHS then from 27 of August 2021, NHS Victoria Hospital 

and then assisted a piece on 4th August 2021.  I 
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resigned on the 3rd --

MR. BEATTY:  Mr. Subramanian?  Mr. Subramanian?  

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  -- 3rd February [inaudible] I 

resigned as I was unhappy --

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Subramanian?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  -- with the working environment and 

the job role intermediate care hospital.  This is not 

an actual job.  So the last week changed.  The role I 

was performing was not the same.  Plus I agreed --

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Subramanian?  Just one moment please.  

Is there any chance we're on mute or something like 

that?  Mr. Subramanian, what you said there for the 

last two or three minutes, the Tribunal or the 

Committee were not able to hear you.  So could I ask 

you to begin again at the top of that document or the 

top of your submission and just start again please.  

MR. BEATTY:  I wonder if you might just keep the 

microphone away from your mouth and if you could speak 

very, very slowly because when you are answering 

questions from me, you speak very slowly, but when you 

are reading, and it is completely understandable, but 

when you are reading, you tend to just rush it a 

little.  So take your time and if you could read it 

very slowly just to make sure the Committee get every 

word of it.  Does that make sense? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.  Okay.  Just again, I worked at 

UK at Birmingham NHS as the advanced physiotherapist 27 

August 2021 through 3 August 2022.  I commenced work at 

UK Kent NHS Victoria Hospital as the advanced 
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physiotherapist on the 4th August 2022.  I resigned on 

the 3rd December 2023 with two months notice period 

with 3rd February due to the last day of work.  I 

resigned as I was unhappy in the working environment 

and the job role in intermediate care hospital.  The 

role I was performing was not safe.  First I agreed 

with team assessment nurse own job offer.  This not 

actual job.  So this unhappy working environment at 

that time caused me great stress and affected my 

health.  And I took annual leave from 28th December 

2022 and returned to India religious festival.  On the 

3rd of January 2023, while I was in India, I was 

shocked to be notified that a complaint was made 

against me to the HCPC.  Due to the complaint and 

interim suspension, I was unable to return to the UK 

due to visa requirements and link to the job and I was 

unable to accept two UK job offers.  I already 

mentioned UK-based NHS and Council UK.  Due to this 

stressful situation of being unable to return to the UK 

as I was unable to work, the stress of complying being 

made against me, as well as family circumstance, I 

initially did not engage the HCPC complaint process.  I 

was distressed, mind unfocused, and opportunity to gain 

employment again, starting to look for work in Ireland 

as I was CORU registered.  Having time to consider and 

realising the seriousness of the situation and the 

complaint, I engaged in the process as a Registrant and 

submitted my response to the HCPC.  I submitted a 

written response, 2nd November 2023, to the HCPC, but 
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did not attend Hearing remotely.  I did not attend the 

Hearing as I found this process very stressful and I 

completed Hearing process on the paper and emailed 9th 

October, 2023.  Apology for the lack of engagement and 

the process to this point.  I have opportunity to 

submit the additional documentation HCPC on 1st May 

2024 and I will attend Hearing scheduled 15th May 2024.  

I refute the claim that I have contact and competency 

concerns and I will address this in my response to the 

HCPC.  I am confident that this 24 years experience.  I 

apologise and reserve it to the Committee for lack of 

honesty when renewing my CORU registration 9th 

September of 2023.  And same like I apologise for the 

Committee and the Case Manager apparent lack of honesty 

and I did request the HCPC cancel my registration, 

September 2023 as I did not want to return to the UK at 

the time of requesting to cancel my HCPC registration.  

I did not realise that I would not cancel my 

registration due to a complaint being investigated to 

be Interim Suspension Order in place.  I thought I 

could remove my name from the area register and the 

complaint would be closed.  I now realise that this is 

not the situation and will come to be engaged in the 

HCPC process.  And I have learned in this process.  And 

I started the TLC nursing home in Ireland in 17th July 

2023, physical piece.  My employer is HCPC compliant as 

well [inaudible] in UK which is ongoing.  So, that is 

my situation.  At the same time, I continuously respond 

to the call through email and phone call like.  So, 
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that is my situation.  At the same time, when I was 

working in nursing home, safely and good standing 

certificate with the Director of Nursing.  I have 

completed necessary induction and mandatory training.  

My manager and the Director of Nursing have not 

expressed any concern with regards to my performance, 

and I have completed six-month probation training 

successfully in Ireland.  I have successfully completed 

manual handling instructor course, and I am teaching 

manual handling peers in nursing home staff and 

providing manual handling certificate.  I have also 

completed necessary training mainly in physiotherapy 

registered course, continuing professional development 

applications.  I have, at the same time I following 

nursing home policy and procedures and standards and 

everything.  I'm very happy in current work, you know, 

current role in physiotherapy.  [Inaudible] it is a 

lovely environment.  I recently enclosing letter -- I 

accept I was dishonest and I apologise [inaudible] 

because of the situation, I thought it was different 

country so I apology at that point.  

At the same time I realise the seriousness of this 

matter and have gained tremendous insight and learning.  

So, as per CORU advised me, advised me later, I have a 

[inaudible] allegations, the HCPC and the manager 

allegations.  I rectify at the same time, I already 

[inaudible].  At the same time I completed, already the 
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complaint from the HCPC the manual handling issue, I am 

instructor Ireland and providing certificate for the 

class.  That is the contract for the there and there.  

At the same time, I have, I currently, and I cooperate 

with the CORU Inquiry process and everything.

I submitted all the documents.  And I frequently, I 

have to meet and it is professional development because 

the HCPC allegations, I already addressed mainly the 

poor clinical knowledge and mandatory training and poor 

general contact and poor communications.  And each and 

everything I addressed and rectified and I am still 

learning through CMPD programme, Continuous Medical 

Professional Development programmes.  

So this is my situation.  Later, the CORU advised, so 

and I'm eligible to work in supervisory post.  I'm 

still applying.  So as for the previous submissions, 

mainly due to the situation, the stressful situations, 

I explained the way of writing submissions.  That is my 

reason.

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Subramanian again my apologies for 

coming back in, but you had indicated in the course of 

the morning when Mr. O'Sullivan was setting out what 

witnesses he had, I think you indicated that you wanted 

to make submissions from an employer that a letter of 

reference or some submissions in that regard.  Is that 

something you wish to address at this point?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, I have only the reference from 
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the previous employer.  Apart from that, I don't have 

any new reference, anything.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  That's at page 105.

CHAIRPERSON:  And the reference that you want to 

address is at page 105 of the core book, is it?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  I see it's in multiple places but yes.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  I'll just asked my fellow --

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  And manual handling certificate also 

included.  I have a manual handling instructor course.

CHAIRPERSON:  Yeah, and that's on the next page, 477.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  At the same time, this is 

[inaudible], after one year, after ten months -- one 

more submissions, I submit to CORU.

CHAIRPERSON:  That's the next page again.  Is that the 

entirety of the submission that you wish to make, Mr 

Subramanian?  Are you finished in addressing the 

Committee, Mr. Subramanian?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  [Inaudible] continuous professional 

development certificate.

CHAIRPERSON:  If perhaps we could scroll down to the 

next two pages, to just go through those please.  Page 

477 and 478 I think are the two certificates.  And are 

they the two certificates you wish to open to the 

Committee, Mr. Subramanian?  

MR. SUBRAMANIAN LOST CONNECTION TO HEARING

CHAIRPERSON:  Can you hear us now, Mr. Subramanian?
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MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, I can. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  So what I had asked you was that 

the two certificates in front of you on the screen at 

the moment, one is on page 478 and the other is on page 

477.  Were they the two certificates that you wish to 

bring to our attention?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, perfect.  And is there anything 

else that you wish to address us on?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Two things, mainly my manager was 

sending certificate and a manual handling instructor 

course, because the HCPC, they mentioning the poor 

manual handling, because I am an instructor here.

So, that is the two things made [inaudible]. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Chair, just for Mr. Subramanian's 

benefit and your benefit, if you turn to page 96, there 

were certain enclosures with the response at page 94 

that we've referred to.  Just so you know. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  I have the membership since 

2002, so that is the main piece.  And I got the CORU 

registration.  

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  So there's that document, obviously, 

then the next page you'll see is Irish Society of 

Chartered Physiotherapists.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Since 2002.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Yeah.  And then after that --

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  And the one more thing, I have a good 

study certificate from other countries.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Yeah.  If we run through those, and 
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there's then the Manual Handling Instruction Cert at 

98, you've seen that already, that's elsewhere, 99, 

there's the Manual Handling Instruction Award, you've 

seen that, 100, you have a Certificate of Appreciation 

from MAHSA University, Best Lecturer Award 2015. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  And the best lecturer, yes, best 

lecturer.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  It's something similar at 101, 2015, 

MAHSA University.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  2015 and 2016, continues two years, 

not similar.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  You have at page 102, a certificate of 

good standing from the department --

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Abu Dhabi, three years experience in 

Abu Dhabi.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  You then have a Malaysian 

Physiotherapy Association letter at 103 to whom it may 

concern.  It's a cert of good conduct in effect. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, when I was in Malaysia. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  And you have at 104, Indian 

Association of Physiotherapists certificate of good 

standing. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah.  I took that 24 years 

experience.  

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Just I was anxious that you knew they 

were there as well.

CHAIRPERSON:  And the Committee thanks you for bringing 

those to our attention Mr. O'Sullivan.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  And one more thing, I already 
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submitted, so I had two offer when I was in UK, so 

after my 10th job, I got opportunity, two offer in 

Wales NHS and Burrow Logan [as heard], so two offer 

letter I already submitted to the CORU.  After 10th 

job.  But I'm not able to join because of HCPC fitness 

to practise.

MR. BEATTY:  Sorry Mr. O'Sullivan, page 94, that 

document with the attachment is from page 94 to where?  

Do we know?  Because I just...

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  As in, including all of the 

attachments? 

MR. BEATTY:  Yeah.  

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  So it runs to the end of... So you 

have all of those certificates.  I may as well just run 

you through them quickly.  So it then continues at page 

105 with the letter from the employer. 

MR. BEATTY:  Yeah. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  That's still an attachment.  Then you 

have an email that he provided in relation to an 

interview.  

MR. BEATTY:  Yeah.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  That's another attachment.  You see an 

offer for a physiotherapy post. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  In the UK, at UK job. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Yeah, at 107.  That's another 

attachment.  Then you have over the page a job offer.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  And I got offered in Wales NHS. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Page 109 then you have the contract 

with the Kent Community Health, which is obviously 
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where the issues of concern ultimately arose.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  It is not actual job.  They giving me 

the last need change because I initially got new job, 

but last minute change.  That is their hospital job.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Again there's another attachment at 

page 110, that too relates to that.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  That is [inaudible] agreed first job.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Then there's the at 111 is the 

submission.  They too were enclosed.  So they bring you 

then to 117, which is an email to the HCPC, which 

you've already seen, where he explains why he hadn't 

replied to previous emails.  So that's the extent, and 

at 118, it begins with a response from the Case 

Officer.

MR. BEATTY:  Okay.

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you for that submission Mr. 

Subramanian.  I don't have any questions for you, but 

I'm just going to ask my fellow Committee members 

whether they have any questions for you at this point.  

Ms. Sheehan?

MS. SHEEHAN:  No, no questions.

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Melaugh?  No, okay.  The Committee 

have no questions, so what I propose doing now is I'm 

going to ask our Legal Assessor... 

MR. BEATTY:  May be we should ask if they want to 

respond?  

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  I've no response to make Chair, thank 

you.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Sorry.  I'm going to ask Mr. Beatty to 
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advise the Committee as to the appropriate matters to 

take into account in their deliberations.  I will then 

give you both the opportunity to comment on Mr Beatty's 

advice.

LEGAL ADVICE BY MR. BEATTY

MR. BEATTY:  Thank you, Chair.  Mr. Subramanian what 

I'm going to do now is, I'm going to give advice to the 

Committee just as to the role that they carry out.  But 

this is advice that you should listen to because a lot 

of it affects you because it goes to the decision that 

the Committee is going to make.  All right?  And it may 

be that, having heard my advice, that you wish to 

address the Committee again and my advice to the 

Committee would be to allow you to do that if that's 

something you wish to do.  Does that make sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.

MR. BEATTY:  All right.  So, as the Committee know, in 

the normal course, the onus of proof is on the 

Registrar in an Inquiry such as this, and the burden on 

the Registrar is to prove the allegations as to fact, 

and in the instance of this case, the allegations as to 

professional misconduct, and the allegations as to a 

breach of the Code.  So the Respondent has a 

presumption of innocence.  Now, obviously in this 

Inquiry, admissions have very fairly been made by Mr.  

Subramanian and the Committee can rely on those 

admissions for the purpose of making findings in 
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relation to fact, in relation to professional 

misconduct and in relation to a breach of the Act.  So 

the role of the Committee is to consider the 

allegations, to review the evidence and decide whether 

the allegations are proven beyond a reasonable doubt, 

and if they are, to decide whether they are proven as 

to professional misconduct and a breach of the Code.  

And again, that is beyond reasonable doubt.  

For the purpose of your decision, professional 

misconduct is defined in the Act, and it is defined by 

Section 50.  And it provides, in relation to a 

Registrant such as Mr. Subramanian, it means:

"Any act, omission or pattern of conduct of the 

Registrant that is a breach of the code of professional 

conduct and ethics adopted by the registration board of 

that profession.  If the registrant has been granted by 

a body outside the State a licence, certificate or 

registration relating to the practice of that 

profession, is a breach of a standard of conduct, 

performance or ethics that applies to a person holding 

that licence certificate or registration and that 

corresponds to a standard contained in the code, 

referred to in paragraph (a)."  

But really, the Committee is most concerned with 

paragraph (a) of that.  So, professional misconduct is 

"an act or an omission or a pattern of conduct of the 
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registrant that is in breach of the Code of 

professional conduct."  And you will see from the 

Notice of Inquiry the different Codes that have been 

identified as having been breached.  And you must be 

satisfied that the Code was effective at the time of 

the conduct. 

There is no expert evidence here in relation to whether 

there was, sorry, whether the conduct, if found, 

constitutes professional misconduct or breach of the 

Act.  And you don't need expert evidence.  These are 

decisions that you can make yourselves, especially in 

relation to issues of professional misconduct, and that 

has been held by the courts.  But you must be satisfied 

that the allegation is found and that the professional 

misconduct is a serious breach, because it has been 

held by the courts in this jurisdiction that only a 

serious error or a series of errors which may therefore 

be serious can justify a finding of poor professional 

performance in that case, but equally that applies to 

professional misconduct or a breach of the Code.  

So if, for example, you find that the allegation, that 

an allegation is proved as to fact and you find it 

proved as to a breach of the Code, you must also be 

satisfied that it is a serious breach of the Code in 

order to find for professional misconduct and a breach 

of the Code.  And you must do so beyond reasonable 

doubt.  And it's important that while submissions are 
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being made here, that you do go that little bit further 

in relation to whether a professional misconduct is 

found and a breach of the Act is found.  Because you 

must be satisfied that it's serious and that is beyond 

reasonable doubt.  

So what is meant by beyond reasonable doubt?  Well, 

it's different from the civil standard, which is on the 

balance of probabilities.  And it has been held that if 

the evidence is so strong against a man as to leave 

only a remote possibility in his favour, which can be 

dismissed with the sentence, "of course it is possible, 

but not the least probable", the case is proved beyond 

reasonable doubt, but nothing short of that would be 

sufficient.  So it doesn't amount to beyond a shadow of 

a doubt, but if there is doubt in your mind as to 

whether it's serious, for example, even where it's 

admitted, and if that doubt is reasonable, then Mr. 

Subramanian is entitled to the benefit of that doubt.

So, the relationship with the Legal Assessor, the role 

of the Legal Assessor, that is my role, is to give you 

advice in relation to the law and in relation to any 

practice and procedure and to identify any irregularity 

if that arises.  I do not make the decision for the 

Committee, nor do I set out what the evidence is.  

You don't have to agree with any advice that I give, 

but if you disagree with the advice, sorry, if you 
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don't follow the advice you must give reasons as to why 

you don't follow the advice.  Once you have completed 

this Inquiry, Section 65 provides that you will make a 

written report on your findings to Council.  And that 

report will, sorry, must specify the following:  

1.  Is the nature of the complaint that resulted in the 

Inquiry.  And that's as contained in the Notice of 

Inquiry.  

The second is the evidence presented to the Committee.  

The third is the Committee's findings as to whether any 

allegation made by a Complainant, in this case as 

articulated in the Notice of Inquiry, against the 

Registrant is substantiated.  

And in addition to that you're entitled to include 

matters relating to the Registrant, as you consider 

appropriate.  And as Mr. O'Sullivan said, it is 

standard in that respect to include a recommendation to 

Council in relation to an appropriate sanction under 

the Act.  You don't have to do that, but that is 

something that is standard enough.  

And the different sanctions that are available to the 

Council, which you can recommend, are provided in 

Section 66.  They start from the least onerous to more 

serious sanctions.
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And you can apply one or more than one of these.  The 

first is an admonishment or a censure.  The second is 

the attachment of conditions to his registration, 

including restrictions on the practice of the 

designated profession by the Registrant.  The third is 

the suspension of his or her registration for a 

specified period.  The fourth is the cancellation of 

his or her registration.  And the fifth is a 

prohibition from applying for a specified period for 

restoration to the registration.  

In the event that you are referring to the attachment 

of conditions, the nature of the conditions should be 

set out.  In the case that you impose a suspension, the 

period of suspension should be set out.  If it is the 

case that you are imposing or you're recommending, not 

imposing, if you're recommending a prohibition, again 

the period of prohibition should be set out.  And when 

making recommendations as to sanction and Mr. 

Subramanian you may want to listen to this in 

particular.  When deciding to make recommendations, I 

can identify what the courts have identified in 

relation to factors that should be considered when 

imposing sanction.  And whilst you are recommending it 

in this instance, you should also take account of 

these.  There are four of them.  The first is to 

highlight to the Registrant, that is Mr. Subramanian, 

to highlight to him the serious view taken of the 
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extent and the nature of the conduct so as to deter him 

from being likely to repeat similar or like conduct.  

The second is to point to the gravity of the conduct to 

other members of the profession because that goes to 

the reputation of the profession but also the integrity 

of the regulatory process.  The third is the protection 

of the public.  Obviously, that is a primary 

consideration.  And then the fourth is to assist the 

practitioner with as much leniency as possible.  As Mr.  

O'Sullivan said, that doesn't mean that the other 

considerations are set at nought, but it does mean that 

you have to carry out a balancing act and ensure that 

you are as lenient as is appropriate, so that any 

decision you make is proportionate.  

So, when you are deciding as regards leniency, you 

should consider both aggravating circumstances, and I'm 

going to touch upon that in a second, but also anything 

that goes to mitigation.  So in circumstances where Mr. 

Subramanian has shown remorse, has shown insight, 

insofar as there is a blemish free record or this was a 

once-off incident, those are all matters that you can 

consider because they mitigate against a more onerous 

sanction if they're present, and specifically I would 

refer to insight.  So the courts have recognised that 

if a Registrant demonstrates insight, and what I mean 

by insight is an understanding of his conduct, then it 

is less likely that that conduct will be repeated.  So 

for example, if you have a Registrant who comes in and 
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accepts and admits the misconduct and seeks to explain 

it, then that demonstrates an element of insight 

compared to somebody who just simply won't acknowledge 

the conduct in the first instance.  So if a Registrant 

acknowledges the conduct and demonstrates insight, 

which isn't just acknowledging it but also realising 

that it was wrong, then he should be given credit in 

relation to that.  

In the context of aggravating factors, there are also 

issues that you can consider.  And in that respect, it 

was raised that you can draw an inference of dishonesty 

based on what you have heard, both by reason of the 

fact that when the renewal was made, it must have been 

clear to Mr. Subramanian that in fact there was an 

Interim Suspension in place and that the wording of the 

form that he used specifically included other 

jurisdictions.  So that it was obvious to him that he 

knew it to be wrong and was therefore dishonest.  And 

there was also a suggestion then by Mr. O'Sullivan that 

if one looks at the timing, it too goes to an element 

of dishonesty.  Dishonesty is ultimately an objective 

test, that is, what does a reasonable man consider that 

conduct to be.  And that is how it should be judged.  

Now, you're entitled to consider the circumstances that 

he found himself in when deciding, you're entitled to 

include that subjective element, but it is an objective 

test.  
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And then you should look at the guidance on sanctions.  

That is very important because the guidance on 

sanctions is apparently, is a bank of previous 

decisions that inform you as to findings that have been 

made and the different sanctions that have been imposed 

in the context of those findings.  And that is helpful 

to you.  It also identifies the principles that I have 

identified and emphasises, of course, the issue of 

proportionality, that is, making sure that you consider 

all of the factors but give as much leniency as you can 

to the Registrant.  

Then finally, whatever decision you make, you should 

provide reasons.  Those don't require to be discursive 

judgments, but they should inform Mr. Subramanian and, 

indeed, the Registrar, not only of your decision, but 

the reasons for your decision.  Because if Mr. 

Subramanian wishes to review those decisions or wishes 

to appeal them in any form that he chooses, then it's 

important not only that he knows your decision, but 

also that he, not only that he knows your decision, but 

also the basis of your decision.  In addition to that, 

it informs the Council.  The Council clearly aren't 

bound by your decision, but it informs them not only of 

your decision, but why you came to your decision.  

In addition to that, in the event that you make 

recommendations as to sanctions to the Council, and if 

they adopt them or even if they don't, that may require 
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confirmation by the High Court.  And if that is the 

case, your report that provides reasons will again 

inform the High Court.  Of course, the High Court won't 

be bound by them, but they will inform the High Court.  

Also, In addition to that, in circumstances where this 

is a public hearing, it goes to the transparency, 

because it means that your decision is open, not only 

the decision you make but the reasons for that 

decision. 

So those are my advices.  And Mr. Subramanian and Mr. 

O'Sullivan should be given the opportunity to agree or 

disagree with those, but particularly Mr. Subramanian 

you will see that I touched on certain aspects, 

especially in relation to the recommendation of 

sanction and the factors that should be taken into 

account.  You may wish to build on that further from 

the submissions you have made by addressing the 

Committee as to why it should be a lesser sanction.  

And you will find the sanctions in Section 66.1 of the 

Act.  You will find the different sanctions and I can 

explain them to you, if you wish, and you can make a 

submission to the Committee that, in the instant case 

that is in this Inquiry, why it should be a lesser 

sanction if they're going to recommend it rather than 

the more onerous ones.  That is something that you're 

perfectly entitled to do and I just want you to know 

that you're entitled to that and obviously if the 
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Committee have any questions for me I'm happy to answer 

those.

CHAIRPERSON:  I don't have any questions Mr. Beatty.  

No.  Mr. O'Sullivan I'm going to ask Mr. Subramanian to 

make his observations first, and then I will of course 

give you an opportunity to comment on both the advice 

and any submissions received. 

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Chair.

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr. Subramanian?  Do you wish to make any 

comments on the advice received?  Or do you wish to 

make any further submissions to the Committee. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  So I can send submissions if you want 

I can later, I can submission.  But I have questions, 

can I ask?

MR. BEATTY:  Do you want to ask me a question is it? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Now, my conditions [break in audio] 

is that can I apply for the job again or I am not 

eligible to apply for the job in Ireland, hereafter?  

MR. BEATTY:  Well, that depends on what happens today.  

So nobody knows.  I am not a member of the Committee, 

as was explained to you, so nobody knows what is going 

to happen at the moment.  So, the Committee have to 

make a decision, and then they make a recommendation, 

which I have gone through, to the Council in relation 

to the appropriate sanction under Section 66.  The 

Council will then make a decision to impose that 

sanction or another sanction, and you will be invited, 

I understand, to any sanction meeting.  Then, what 

happens is, if it's a sanction that requires to be 
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confirmed by the High Court, then ultimately the 

President of the High Court or somebody else that he 

delegates that job to, will decide what the sanction 

is.  And that may, depending on the sanction, that may 

prevent you from applying for a job here.  So to answer 

your question, there's nothing preventing you now from 

applying for a job, but obviously I'm not advocating 

for a second or suggesting to you that you should make 

such applications while this is ongoing.  Ultimately, 

that's not a matter for me, but there's nothing in law 

preventing you, as I understand it, from doing that.  

But there may be, if a sanction is imposed that 

restricts your practice.  Does that make sense?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.

MR. BEATTY:  But, I think what the Chair was saying to 

you is he was asking you two questions.  He was saying, 

having heard what I said, do you want to make any 

further submission?  That's the first question he asked 

you.  And the second question he asked you is, do you 

have any comment on my advices other than that?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  I don't have any updated information.  

But at the same time I did want to --

CHAIRPERSON:  I didn't hear what you said there Mr. 

Subramanian.  Could you repeat that please?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  So I don't have any updated 

informations.  Update information.  I don't new, I 

don't have any new submissions. 

MR. BEATTY:  Okay, no submissions.  Okay. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  The second thing, I am not ready, I 
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don't want to comment for the second questions.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  I don't think he has any comment to 

make in relation to the second question, which was 

about the legal advice, I think.  

MR. BEATTY:  And also he doesn't want to make any 

further submissions.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  He has no further submissions to make, 

is my understanding.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  And you have no further submission 

to make either in relation to sanctions?  Mr. 

Subramanian, I just asked, do you have any submissions 

that you wish to make in relation to sanction?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  No, Sir.

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Beatty brought you 

through the sanctions available to the Committee and 

you do not wish to make any submissions in relation to 

them either.  Failing any further submission in terms 

of any nature, Mr. O'Sullivan, do you wish to either 

comment on Mr. Beatty's advice or do you wish to make 

any further submissions yourself?

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  I agree with Mr. Beatty's advice and I 

have no further submissions to make, Chair.  Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON:  Well, in that case, unless there are any 

questions from any fellow Committee members?  No?  No.

The Committee will rise and deliberate.  We will inform 

you through Ade in the next five minutes or so as to 

when we would anticipate being in a position to update 

you further in terms of the progress of our 

deliberations.
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MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  So Mr. Subramanian may 

want to stay online for five minutes.

CHAIRPERSON:  For that period of time it might be best 

if he did.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Yes, thank you.

SHORT ADJOURNMENT [15:33]

THE HEARING RESUMED AFTER A SHORT ADJOURNMENT [15:46]

DECISION

CHAIRPERSON:  The Committee have deliberated on the 

matter and the Committee finds that allegation 1 is 

proven.  

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Hello?

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, I will start again if we seem to 

have connectivity problems.  Is there somebody waiting 

to be admitted?  

MR. ADEYANJU:  No, we're fine now.

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON:  Allegation 1, the Committee following 

careful deliberation, finds that allegation number 1 is 

proven as to fact and proved as to professional 

misconduct, except for being in breach of paragraph 

7(b) and also except for being in breach of paragraph 

20(3) of the Code of Conduct and proved as to being a 

breach of the Act as alleged. 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

Gwen Malone Stenography Services Ltd.

 

 

112

In relation to allegation 2, the Committee also finds 

allegation 2 proved as to fact and proved as to 

professional misconduct except for being in breach of 

paragraphs 7(b) and also paragraph 20(e) of the Code of 

Conduct and proved as to a breach of the Act as 

alleged.

A written report will be prepared and presented to 

Council with a recommendation as to sanction and the 

written report will be circulated to the parties 

containing the reasons for the decision in early 

course.

Mr. Beatty, have you any advice to furnish or?

MR. BEATTY:  Mr. Subramanian, do you understand what 

all of that means?

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, we seem to have frozen in terms of 

Mr. Subramanian, I'm conscious that there is somebody 

else also indicating as waiting in the lobby.  So 

perhaps if we could just clarify those two issues.  

MR. BEATTY:  Mr. Subramanian, can you hear me?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN LOST CONNECTION TO HEARING

CHAIRPERSON:  Can you hear me now? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah, I can hear your voice. 

CHAIRPERSON:  I read out the decision of the Committee.  

Did you hear me? 
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MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yeah. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  I'm now going to hand you over to 

Mr Beatty, who is just going to address you for one 

moment and we'll deal with any matters arising then.

MR. BEATTY:  Mr. Subramanian, can you hear me? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Yes, I can hear your voice, yeah

MR. BEATTY:  All right.  Do you need me to explain the 

decision, or are you clear on what the decision was?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  No, you can proceed yourself.

MR. BEATTY:  All right.  So essentially they've made 

their decision, and they're going to proceed now to 

complete a report, as I had advised earlier on, and 

they're going to make recommendations as to sanction 

that report.  So you'll get that in due course, okay?

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay, okay.

MR. BEATTY:  Any questions? 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  So thereafter, can I apply for the 

supervisory post or not?  Supervisory post in Ireland.  

Supervisory post. 

MR. BEATTY:  To the best of my knowledge, and it could 

be that I don't know, but to the best of my knowledge, 

there's nothing preventing you from applying for jobs.  

Now, if you were to err on the side of caution, you may 

decide that that is not appropriate in circumstances 

where a recommended sanction is likely and may include 

suspension or cancellation, and that may be what is 

imposed by the Council and ultimately by the Court.  So 

I can't tell you what to do, except that -- well, 

except I can't say it any further than that.  So 
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there's no, as I understand it, there's nothing 

stopping you from doing that now, but you could end up 

doing it, coming to Ireland and finding that in fact 

you can't take the job.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  We can write to Mr. Subramanian in 

relation to that query.

MR. BEATTY:  Yeah, okay.  So the Registrar is going to 

write to you just to set out the position, because 

obviously that's not really a matter for the Committee.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay, so still my registration is 

there, right? 

MR. BEATTY:  Your registration exists currently, as I 

understand the position, yes.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay, so after CORU decision, then I 

can query about my job?  

MR. BEATTY:  Well, that depends on their decision, but 

I will let the Registrar engage with you on that. 

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.  Okay. 

MR. BEATTY:  All right. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you all very much for your 

participation today.

MR. O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Okay.  Thank you so much for 

understanding and support. 

MR. BEATTY:  Thank you.

MR. SUBRAMANIAN:  Thank you.

END OF HEARING [15:57]
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